
Local Development Finance Authority

Regular Meeting Agenda

Monday, June 8, 2015
4:00 p.m., Council Chambers
South Haven City Hall

                                      City of South Haven    

1. Call to Order

2. Roll Call

Chairman Art Bolt, Tyler Dotson, Thomas Erdmann, Eugen Gawreliuk, Mike Henry, Robert 
Herrera, Stephanie Timmer, Andy Klavins, Doug Schaffer, Christine Valentine.

3. Approval of Agenda

4. Approval of Minutes – April 13, 2015 Regular Meeting

5. Interested Citizens in the Audience Will be Heard on Items Not on the Agenda

6. Financial Report

7.   Economic Development Report

8. Overton Building Acquisition

9.  2nd Avenue Utility Incentive

10.  General Comments

11.  Adjourn

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED,
Paul VandenBosch
Secretary, Local Development Finance Authority

SOUTH HAVEN CITY HALL IS BARRIER FREE AND THE CITY OF SOUTH HAVEN WILL PROVIDE 
THE NECESSARY REASONABLE AUXILIARY AIDS AND SERVICES FOR PERSONS WITH 
DISABILITIES, SUCH AS SIGNERS FOR THE HEARING IMPAIRED AND AUDIO TAPES OF PRINTED 
MATERIALS BEING CONSIDERED AT THE MEETING TO INDIVIDUALS WITH DISABILITIES AT THE 
MEETING UPON SEVEN (7) DAYS NOTICE TO THE SOUTH HAVEN CITY HALL.   

1



 

1 

 

Local Development Finance Authority 
 

 
Regular Meeting Minutes 

 
Monday, April 13, 2015 
4:00 p.m., Council Chambers 
South Haven City Hall 

                                             City of South Haven      
 

 

 
 
1. Call to Order by Bolt at 4:22 p. m. 

 

2. Roll Call 
 

Present:  Dotson, Erdmann, Gawreliuk, Klavins, Schaffer, Valentine, Bolt 
 Absent:   Henry, Herrera, Timmer 
 
3. Approval of Agenda 
 
 Motion by Valentine, second by Klavins to approve the agenda as amended. 
 
 All in favor. Motion carried. 

 
4. Approval of Minutes –  January 12, 2015 Regular Meeting 
 

Motion by Klavins, second by Dotson to approve the January 12, 2015 regular meeting 
minutes as written. 
 
All in favor. Motion carried. 

 
5. Interested Citizens in the Audience Will be Heard on Items Not on the Agenda 
 
 There were none. 
 
6. Financial Report 
 
 VandenBosch reviewed the Financial Report. 
 

Motion by Erdmann, second by Klavins to accept the financial report.  
 
All in favor. Motion carried. 

 
7.   Economic Development Report 
 

Jack McCloughan, Economic Development Director, reported on Economic Development 
activities. 

2



April 13, 2015 
Local Development Finance Authority 
Regular Meeting Agenda 

 

 
8. 220 Aylworth Offer 
 
 Removed from Agenda. 
 
9.   Factory Condominium Memorandum of Understanding 
 

VandenBosch noted that the reimbursement agreement was done in the late 1990s. The 
LDFA was party to the original agreement so needs to be included in the Memorandum of 
Understanding and Reimbursement Agreement.  
 
Motion by Klavins, second by Erdmann to approve a resolution authorizing agreements and 
actions to enable environmental remediation at the Factory Condominium site.  
 
Ayes:  Dotson, Erdmann, Gawreliuk, Klavins, Schaffer, Bolt  
Nays:  None 
 
Valentine abstained due to ownership in Factory Condominiums. 
 
Motion carried. 

 
10.  Budget 
 

VandenBosch reviewed the proposed budget and enumerated the uses of funds under 
Operating Transfers Out.   
 
VandenBosch questioned some figures included in General Fund transfers and noted that 
he will request an explanation of the General Fund Transfers.  
 
Motion by Valentine, second by Klavins to approve the budget pending an explanation of 
General Fund Transfers.  
 
All in favor. Motion carried. 

 
11. General Comments 
 
 There were none. 
 
12.  Adjourn 
 
 Motion by Klavins, second by Schaffer to adjourn at 4:40 p. m.  
 
 All in favor. Motion carried. 
 

 
RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED, 
 
Marsha Ransom 
Recording Secretary 

3



LDFA #1 LDFA #2 LDFA #3
Revenues

Property Tax Captures 165,327                       27,177                          57,045                           
Interest Income 5,202                           264                               4,043                             
Land Sales -                                
Other Revenue      State PPT reimb 34,943                         2,435                            369                                
Other Transfers In -                               -                                -                                
Total Revenue 205,472                       29,876                          61,457                           

Expenditures
Economic Liaison 13,235                         14,461                          16,421                           
Administrative Costs -                               -                                -                                
Professional Fees 2,400                           -                                -                                
Contractual Services 1,845                           -                                -                                
Capital Projects -                               -                                2,800                             
General Fund Administration -                               18,333                          4,583                             
Transfer to Building Authority Debt Service -                               11,867                          -                                
MEDC Loan Payments 20,406                           
Transfer to St. Joe Project Debt Service 110,000                       -                                -                                
Other Transfers Out -                               -                                -                                
Total Expenditures 127,480                       44,662                          44,211                           

Year-to-Date Fund Gain/(Loss) 77,992                       (14,786)                       17,246                         

Cash and Investments
Cash 299,620                       47,911                          72,115                           
Certificates of Deposit 262,661                       -                                
Other Financial Investments 213,707                       129,901                        502,573                         
Total 775,988                     177,812                      574,689                       

Land Assets - 345 Kalamazoo St 5.19 acres 46,710$                        Mkt Value per assessor
Land Assets - 1391 Kalamazoo St 1.54 acres 36,729$                        Mkt Value per assessor
220 Aylworth Ave 13.22 acres 118,980$                      Mkt Value per assessor
1280 Kalamazoo St. 3.48 acres 31,320$                        Mkt Value per assessor

LDFA Debt Obligations
St. Joe Projects Bonds - Final Maturity - May 2027 $120,000/Year
DPW Relocation Bonds - Final Maturity - Nov. 2021 $13,990 Average/Year
MEDC Loan -0% Interest - Final Payment - April 2016 $27,208/Year

City of South Haven
Local Development Finance Authority
For the period ended May 31, 2015

4



May 29, 2015

TO: Local Development Finance Authority

FR: Paul VandenBosch

RE: Purchase of Overton Building

Due to nonpayment of property taxes, the 5.7 acre Overton property has been foreclosed 
upon by the County Treasurer.

The County Treasurer first offers any tax foreclosed properties to the City before sending the 
parcels to tax sale auction.  To acquire the property, the City must pay the minimum bid plus 
administrative costs of $15.  The cost of acquisition is $98,265.

South Haven City Council will consider whether to acquire the Overton Property on June 15.  
The proposal under consideration is to transfer the property to the LDFA for the cost of 
acquisition.

The proposed resolution for the LDFA would authorize transfer of the property from the City to
the LDFA, with the LDFA paying the City the cost of acquisition.

Pros

Demolition of the dangerous building can start quickly.
No waiting for property to pass through tax reversion.
The LDFA would control the property.
The LDFA can request rezoning to an appropriate use (likely residential).
No need to use Dangerous Building Special Assessment process which would inhibit future 
development.
Demolition expenses can be recovered through a brownfield plan if development occurs.
Elimination of blight in a residential neighborhood.
Elimination of a public health and safety hazard.
Removal of last industrial ruin in a residential neighborhood will increase property values in 
area.

Cons

We do not have an intended use for the property, although residential development seems to 
be a likely highest and best use.
There have been concerns associated with residential development of brownfield sites.
While test results indicate only low levels of contamination, there may be unidentified sources.
There will be an ongoing mowing maintenance expense.

Process

If the LDFA purchases the property, an example of the process for purchase, demolition and 
redevelopment could be as follows:

5



Purchase through tax foreclosure process
Approve brownfield plan
Approve funding method (Brownfield Revolving Fund)
Demolish building
Restore site
Request Planning Commission review of best use of area
Rezone 
Offer site for sale
Review development proposal
Sell property with conditions requiring development according to plan 

6



LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FINANCE AUTHORITY
OF THE CITY OF SOUTH HAVEN

VAN BUREN AND ALLEGAN COUNTIES, MICHIGAN

RESOLUTION NO. 2015-___

A RESOLUTION TO ACQUIRE TAX FORECLOSURE PROPERTY 
FROM THE CITY OF SOUTH HAVEN

Minutes of a regular meeting of the Local Development Finance Authority of the City of
South Haven, Van Buren and Allegan Counties, Michigan, held in the City Hall, 539 Phoenix
Street, South Haven, Michigan 49090 on June 8, 2015 at 4:00 p.m. local time.

PRESENT:                                                                                                                          

ABSENT:                                                                                                                             

The following preamble and resolution was offered by Member                                 and
supported by Member                                     .

WHEREAS,  Section  78.m.  of  the  General  Property  Tax  Act  of  1893,  as  amended,  MCL
211.78m, allows a city to purchase tax foreclosed property within the city for a public purpose;
and 

WHEREAS, Van Buren County has tax foreclosed property located at 229 Elkenberg Street,
South Haven, Michigan 49090, Parcel No. 80-53-260-006-00 (the “Overton Property”); and 

WHEREAS, the City of South Haven (the “City”) wishes to acquire the Overton Property and
convey it  to  the  Local  Development  Finance  Authority  of  the  City  (“LDFA”),  a  public  body
corporate established by the City pursuant to the Local Development Financing Act of 1986, as
amended, MCL 125.2151 et seq., to ensure demolition of the dangerous building on it and its
subsequent redevelopment; and

WHEREAS,  the  LDFA  wishes  to  acquire  the  Overton  Property  from  the  City  to  ensure
destruction of the dangerous building on it and its subsequent redevelopment; and

WHEREAS, the acquisition costs for the Overton Property are estimated to be $98,265; and

WHEREAS,  a  LDFA  has  authority  to  acquire  real  property  within  its  development  district
pursuant to Section 7 of PA 281, MCL 125.2157; and 

WHEREAS, the Overton Property is located within the LDFA’s development district. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED:

1. The acquisition of the Overton Property from the City for an amount not more than $98,265
is approved, subject to such terms and conditions as may be agreed upon by the LDFA. 

2. The Secretary of the LDFA Board and other LDFA officials are authorized to execute the
documents and take other actions reasonably necessary or appropriate to consummate these
transactions.  

3. All resolutions and parts of resolutions are, to the extent of any conflict with this resolution,
are rescinded.

Resolution 2015-___
- 1 -

7



RECORD OF VOTE:

Yeas:                                                                                                                                                 

Nays:                                                                                                                                                 

RESOLUTION DECLARED ADOPTED.

                                                               
Arthur Bolt, Chair

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and complete copy of a resolution adopted by the
City of South Haven Local Development Finance Authority at a meeting held on the 8th day of
June, 2015, at which meeting a quorum was present, and that this resolution was ordered to
take immediate effect. Public notice of said meeting was given pursuant to and in compliance
with the Open Meetings Act, Act No. 167 of the Public Acts of Michigan 1976 (MCL 15.261 et
seq).

                                                               
Paul VandenBosch, Secretary

Resolution 2015-___
- 2 -

GRAPIDS 57671-1 355350v2 8



9



10



11



174.00'

85
.7

9'

114.63'

93
.8

8'

160.00'

50
.0

0'

122.58'

15
0.

00
'

122.58'

38
5.

91
'

365.01'

48.67'

11
9.

30
'

79
.2

6'
80

.8
7'

23
0.

20
'

10
.0

0'
37

.9
0'

2.64'

15
0.

00
'

OVERTON BUILDING
229 ELKENBURG
SOUTH HAVEN

INFORMATIONAL SKETCHM
A

F

4/18/2014

1"=60'

14-0142

1
1

IN
DI

A
N

A
 A

VE
N

UE

ELKENBURG  STREET

SKETCH 
NOTE: THIS IS NOT A BOUNDARY SURVEY.

NOTE: TAX LIEN IN THE AMOUNT OF
$98,889.53 AGAINST WILLIAM ENGEL IS
SHOWN ON THE SKETCH AS COVERING
TWO OF THE PARCELS.  IT MAY ALSO
COVER THE LARGER PARCEL IF WILLIAM
ENGEL HAD A REAL INTEREST IN THE
PARCEL.

NOTE: NOTICE OF JUDGEMENT OF  LIEN
AGAINST WILLIAM ENGEL IN THE
AMOUNT OF $26,361.55 BY QUALITY
PRECAST, INC.  - DOES NOT SPECIFY
WHAT IS COVERED.

MORTGAGE BY SITTIES LLC WITH THE BANK OF HOLLAND.  LIBER 1490,
PG. 584 COVERS PARCELS 1-10.

ASSIGNMENT OF RENTS BETWEEN SITTIES LLC AND THE BANK OF
HOLLAND. LIBER 1490, PAGE 585 COVERS PARCELS 1-10

FEDERAL TAX LIEN IN THE AMOUNT OF $98,889.53 AGAINST WILLIAM
ENGEL. LIBER 1527, PAGE 434. THIS LIEN MAY OR MAY NOT COVER
THIS PARCEL.

UTILITY LIEN IN THE AMOUNT OF $18,207.08 BY THE CITY OF SOUTH
HAVEN AGAINST BILL ENGEL, ELC CORPORATION AND SITTIES LLC.
LIBER 1546, PAGE 296. COVERS THE AREA THAT ENCOMPASSES
PARCELS 1-10 LESS ROAD RIGHT OF WAY.

VAN BUREN COUNTY TREASURER CERTIFICATE OF FORFEITURE OF
REAL PROPERTY. LIBER 1583, PAGE 933. COVERS THE AREA THAT
ENCOMPASSES PARCELS 1-10 LESS ROAD RIGHT OF WAY.

DELINQUENT PROPERTY TAX NOTICE FOR 2011 AND 2012 TAXES FOR
A TOTAL AMOUNT DUE OF $31,738.92 STARTING 3/14/2014. APPEARS
TO COVER THE AREA THAT ENCOMPASSES PARCELS 1-10 LESS ROAD
RIGHT OF WAY.

SHERRIF'S DEED RECORDED IN LIBER 1474, PAGE 596 ENCOMPASSES
PARCELS 1-10.

MORTGAGE AGREEMENT RECORDED IN LIBER 1352, PAGE 178
ENCOMPASSES PARCELS 1-10.

QUIT CLAIM DEED RECORDED IN LIBER 10489, PAGE 664
ENCOMPASSES PARCELS 1-10 AND 150' X 122.58' PARCEL.

MORTGAGE BY WILLIAM ENGEL TO
HLV LLC LIBER 1522, PAGE 778.

NOTICE OF LIS PENDENS, LIBER 1559,
PAGE 752.

FEDERAL TAX LIEN IN THE AMOUNT
OF $98,889.53 AGAINST WILLIAM
ENGEL. LIBER 1527, PAGE 434.

QUIT CLAIM DEED RECORDED IN
LIBER 10489, PAGE 664
ENCOMPASSES PARCELS 1-10 ON
LARGE PARCEL AND THIS PARCEL.

MORTGAGE BY WILLIAM
ENGEL TO HLV LLC LIBER
1522, PAGE 778.

NOTICE OF LIS PENDENS,
LIBER 1559, PAGE 752.

FEDERAL TAX LIEN IN THE
AMOUNT OF $98,889.53
AGAINST WILLIAM ENGEL.
LIBER 1527, PAGE 434.

NOTE: DASHED LINES AND
NUMBERS REPRESENT
GENERAL CONFIGURATION
AND LOCATION OF PARCELS
IN THE COVENANT DEED TO
SITTIES LLC, LIBER 1490, PAGE
583.

E:
\C

IV
IL

 3
D

\S
U

R
V

 P
R

O
J\

14
-0

14
2\

14
-0

14
2.

dw
g,

 1
1-

17
, 7

/2
/2

01
4 

3:
32

:4
5 

PM
, m

fr
ee

hl
in

g,
 1

:1

12



Overton Demolition Financing 6/19/2014

Funding Sources
445,858.18 Brownfield Revolving Fund Balance 586,364.76 Brownfield Revolving Fund 2013 Balance

0.00 Grant 140,506.58 Factory Condo Expenses from Revolving Fund (2014-06-19 Draft Plan)
89,141.82 LDFA 1 445,858.18 Brownfield Revolving Fund Balance

535,000.00 Total

Expenses
25,000.00 Fence

400,000.00 Demolition
60,000.00 Professional Services
50,000.00 Other

535,000.00 Total

13



        

14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



1

Paul Vandenbosch

From: Nicholas Curcio <NCurcio@dickinson-wright.com>
Sent: Thursday, May 21, 2015 7:47 AM
To: Paul Vandenbosch
Cc: Scott G. Smith
Subject: RE: Use of Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Local Site Remediation Revolving Fund 

for Overton Demolition

Paul,  
 
The BRA can use both the school and non-school portion of the revolving fund to conduct eligible activities on any eligible 
property in the City, without approval from the DEQ or MSF.  But, the City would be unable to replenish the LSRRF with 
new school-tax revenues attributable to those activities unless the brownfield plan authorizing the activities was approved 
by the DEQ.   
 
Please let us know if you have any further questions. 
 
-Nick 
 

  
Nicholas Curcio Attorney 
200 Ottawa Ave., 
N.W. 
Suite 1000 
Grand Rapids MI 
49503 

 

Phone 616-336-1048 
Fax 616-458-6753 
Email NCurcio@dickinsonwright.com 

 

 
  
Begin forwarded message: 

From: Paul Vandenbosch <pvandenbosch@south‐haven.com> 
Date: May 20, 2015 at 1:33:23 PM EDT 
To: "Scott G. Smith (SGSmith@dickinson‐wright.com)" <SGSmith@dickinson‐wright.com> 
Cc: Brian Dissette <bdissette@south‐haven.com>, "Nicholas Curcio (NCurcio@dickinson‐wright.com)" 
<NCurcio@dickinson‐wright.com> 
Subject: Use of Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Local Site Remediation Revolving Fund for 
Overton Demolition 

Scott; 
  
We have collected $586,365.57 in an Act 381 Local Site Remediation Revolving Fund.  Of this amount, 
$565,662.91 came from school operating tax capture. 
  
Are we required to seek DEQ or MEDC approval to use LSRRF funds which came from school operating 
tax capture? 
  
The project would be the Overton demolition. 
  
Paul VandenBosch 
Assistant City Manager/Harbormaster 

23



2

  
City of South Haven 
pvandenbosch@south‐haven.com 
269‐637‐0775 Desk 
269‐637‐5319 Fax 
539 Phoenix Street 
South Haven, MI 49090 
  

 
 
 
 
The information contained in this e-mail, including any attachments, is confidential, intended only for the named recipient(s), and may be legally privileged. If you 
are not the intended recipient, please delete the e-mail and any attachments, destroy any printouts that you may have made and notify us immediately by return e-
mail.  
 
Neither this transmission nor any attachment shall be deemed for any purpose to be a "signature" or "signed" under any electronic transmission acts, unless 
otherwise specifically stated herein. Thank you. 

24



          
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   Phase II ESA 

25



PHASE II ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ASSESSMENT

229 ELKENBURG STREET, SOUTH HAVEN, MICHIGAN   March 19, 2015

1.0 Summary

Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc. contracted by the City of South Haven to conduct a Phase II

Environmental Site Assessment (ESA)  at 229 Elkenburg Street, South Haven, Michigan which is

known as the Overton Building.  This investigation was completed in response to the recognized

environmental conditions outlined in the June 10, 2014 Phase I ESA report completed by Villa

Environmental Consultants, Inc.  

The Phase I ESA found eight (8) Recognized Environmental Conditions (RECs) that might impact the

subject property.

1. There was historical use of stains, paints, thinners, etc.  at this site. These chemicals contain

Volatile and Semi-volatile organic compounds and may have contributed to a release.  

2. A 20,000 gallon oil tank which leaked and was removed between 1965 and 1985.  The removal

of this underground storage tank was completed to the standards of that time period, but

contamination may still exist and the levels may not meet the current cleanup criteria. 

3. Historical use of a railroad spur on the property may have contaminated the site with heavy

metals, creosote, or polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons (PNA)s.

4. There was a coal bunker located within the building which may have contaminated the site

with PNAs.

5. A foundry was located on the northern section of the subject property which may have lead to

site contamination from heavy metals through distribution of foundry sand.

6. Based on interviews there was a historical filling station adjacent to the southeast of the subject

property.  Due to the proximity to the subject property this is a REC.

7. Belgravia is a state equivalent  to CERCLIS site and is adjacent to the west portion of the

subject property.  Due to the proximity to the subject property this is a REC.

8. There are currently approximately 25 to 30 drums located within the building that are

unlabeled and contain potentially hazardous or petroleum  chemicals.  These containers of

unknown chemicals and their condition have the potential to cause a release.

To address the RECs identified in the Phase I ESA, a Phase II ESA was initiated which involved a

subsurface investigation to determine if historic use of the subject property caused contamination  that

would need to be addressed during site development.  This report summarizes the findings of this

investigation.

A Site Location Map and Sampling Location Map are included in Appendix A.

2.0 Background Information

The City of South Haven (the City) is in the process of obtaining ownership of the subject property

through tax foreclosure.  The original Phase I ESA, a National Emissions Standard for Hazardous Air

Pollutants (asbestos NESHAP) inspection, and this Phase II ESA have been initiated to develop a plan

for removing the existing building and redeveloping the site.  

VILLA ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTANTS, INC. 

PROJECT #13-373-02 PAGE 1 

26



PHASE II ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ASSESSMENT

229 ELKENBURG STREET, SOUTH HAVEN, MICHIGAN   March 19, 2015

Prior to tax foreclosure, control of the Overton Building was taken by the City to protect its residents. 

The City secured the doors and installed perimeter fencing around the Overton Building to restrict

access.  The building is currently condemned and is dangerous to human health and the environment

because of the failing roof and walls, deteriorating asbestos-containing material (ACM), and hazardous

materials contained in 55-gallon steel drums throughout the building.  The building is in very poor

condition and is expected to be demolished. 

3.0 Subsurface Investigation

Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc. contracted with Geoserve, Inc. of Woodstock, Illinois to

advance soil borings at the site.  On February 9 and 10, 2015, soil borings were advanced utilizing a

track-mounted, Geoprobe 6620 DT throughout the interior and exterior of the Overton Building.   A

total of twenty-four (24) soil borings were advanced during this investigation, generally ranging from

eight (8) to sixteen (16) feet below ground surface (bgs), with the depth of each boring based on field

observations.

3.1 Geology

Fill material was encountered directly below the building slab and near the ground surface surrounding

the Overton Building.  A black slag material was noted underneath the north portion of the building

and the current location of the rail spur along the west side of the building, which was encountered

approximately ten inches bgs.  The slag material is poorly graded and is a mix of silt to course sand. 

A fine, well graded tan silty sand was noted underneath the southern half of the Overton Building

where the original building was constructed.  The tan sand is likely native soil and was encountered

throughout the property.

Fill material and the building slab is underlain by native sand and clay.  The clay that was encountered,

was generally tan, moist and medium to hard in stiffness.  Depth to clay ranged from directly below

the building slab to 7.3' bgs.  The depth to the bottom of the clay layer was not determined during this

investigation.  During the drilling operation, it was noted that the depth to groundwater ranged from

4 feet to 6 feet bgs.  When no water bearing sand was present, depth to groundwater was 7 feet to 9

feet bgs.  Based on the close proximity of this site to Lake Michigan (approximately 1,600 feet west

of the site), groundwater likely flows west toward the lake.

3.2 Laboratory Analysis

Twenty (20) soil samples were collected for laboratory analysis during the subsurface investigation. 

Samples were collected at different depths based on field observations and the groundwater level. 

Field observations utilized were visual examination, olfactory observations, and the use of field

instruments (a photo ionization detector) to determine the necessary sample analysis.   The samples

were analyzed for PNAs, unleaded gasoline parameters, and/or total metals based on observations. 

In total, six (6) samples were analyzed for PNAs, three (3) samples were analyzed for unleaded

gasoline parameters, and 20 samples were analyzed for total metals.  Detailed sample results are

outlined in Section 3.3.  A complete laboratory report is included in the appendix of this report.

VILLA ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTANTS, INC. 

PROJECT #13-373-02 PAGE 2 
27



PHASE II ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ASSESSMENT

229 ELKENBURG STREET, SOUTH HAVEN, MICHIGAN   March 19, 2015

3.3 Sample Methodology

Samples were preserved in appropriate jars, placed into a cooler with ice, and chain of custody

procedures were initiated.  The samples were then shipped via a laboratory courier to ALS

Environmental Laboratory (ALS), located in Holland, Michigan.  As previously explained, sample

analysis was based on observations, historic use of the property, and historic use of nearby properties. 

Samples were analyzed for:

C PNAs by Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) Method 8270, 

C Unleaded gasoline parameters, which are part of Volatile Organic Compounds

(VOCs), by EPA Method 8260B, and/or

C Michigan 10 Metals, which is a list of heavy metals, analyzed using EPA Method

6020A.

3.4 Sample Results

Of the six (6) samples analyzed for PNAs, one sample was reported to exceed Michigan Department

of Environmental Quality (MDEQ) residential cleanup criteria:

• Sample SB-8, located the shipping and receiving area at the northeast corner of the

building, was reported to have levels of: benzo(a)pyrene, benzo(b)fluoranthene, and

dibenzo(a,h)anthracene above MDEQ residential cleanup criteria.

No unleaded gasoline constituents were identified above applicable residential criteria.  Seven of the

20 samples analyzed for Michigan 10 Metals were reported to have results exceeding applicable

criteria:

• Sample locations: SB-8, SB-14, SB-15, SB-16, SB-17, SB-19, and SB-22 were
reported to have arsenic concentrations above residential drinking water protection
criteria.  Samples: SB-14, SB-15, SB-16 and SB-22 were also reported to exceed
direct contact criteria.

• SB-22 was also reported to have levels of cadmium that exceed drinking water
protection criteria.

Based on the levels of soils identified above and according to MDEQ Part 201 Section 324.20101,
the site is considered a facility.  Contamination at the site is likely a consequence of using foundry
sand and/or slag material as fill during the construction of the building additions.  The original
building, which is the production area near the south property line, did not exhibit contamination in
analytical results or field observations.

4.0 Environmental Due Diligence

Since the City is a non-liable party, no further investigation is required at this time.  However,
environmental due diligence is required when owning and/or operating a facility.  The following
sections identify the owner/operator responsibilities.  These recommendations are based on the
subject property being redeveloped (for example) into a condominium and/or apartment complex
following demolition of the existing structure.

VILLA ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTANTS, INC. 

PROJECT #13-373-02 PAGE 3 
28



PHASE II ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ASSESSMENT

229 ELKENBURG STREET, SOUTH HAVEN, MICHIGAN   March 19, 2015

4.1 Due Care Plan

Based on the contaminates that exceed MDEQ Residential Cleanup Criteria outlined in Section 3.4,
the site is considered a facility.  The MDEQ does not require that their offices be notified of the
presence of contamination in the soils because no formal release occurred at this site. The main focus
of the MDEQ law regarding a facility is to:

1. Undertake measures as necessary to prevent exacerbation.
2. Undertake steps to mitigate exposure of unnecessary risks to human health.

Exacerbation is not a concern because no waste is being generated at the building.  However,
exacerbation could occur if materials are mishandled during site redevelopment.  A due care plan
is required for the site and will outline steps being taken to mitigate the risk of exposure and
exacerbation during demolition and construction activities, and to protect future residents of a
potential apartment and/or condominium development.

Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc. understands that the site is expected to be added to the City’s
brownfield program.  Including the site in the current brownfield authority means that the due care
plan will likely be submitted to the MDEQ for comments and approval.

4.2 Baseline Environmental Assessment (BEA)

There is no transfer of liability to a government entity that seizes property through tax foreclosure,
based on MDEQ law.  However, the subject property is being included in the City’s brownfield
program so a BEA must be completed and submitted to the MDEQ within 6 months of ownership
to document the facility status of the site.  It is likely that the City will want to submit the BEA
sooner, based on the development activities expected to begin this year.  A BEA establishes
environmental conditions when a new owner or operator gains control of a site.  The BEA
documents site conditions to determine liability of each owner and/or operator.

4.3 Waste Characterization

During site investigation activities, several drums were opened by our subcontractor, Liquid
Industrial of Grand Rapids, Michigan to characterize contents for disposal.  The material inside the
drums was frozen and unable to be sampled during this investigation.  When warmer weather
persists (likely in April 2015) and the drums are given time to thaw, the materials should be sampled
to determine and plan proper disposal of the drum contents. 

5.0 Conclusions

The following is a summary of the key conclusions identified from this investigation:

• The site is a facility based on concentrations of arsenic, cadmium, benzo(a)pyrene,
benzo(b)fluoranthene, and dibenzo(a,h)anthracene.   

• Within 6 months of becoming the owner or operator of the site, the City must submit

a BEA to the MDEQ to document the facility status.  This will also make the site

eligible for brownfield redevelopment financing.  More information is included in

VILLA ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTANTS, INC. 

PROJECT #13-373-02 PAGE 4 
29



30



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
APPENDIX A 

Site Location Map 

31



Project: 

1 

Site Location Map 
Date:3/17/2015 

Project No: #13-373-02 
Scale:    See Above 
Figure No: 

Overton Building 
229 Elkenburg Street 

South Haven, MI 49090 

32



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX B 
Sample and Drum Location Map & Fill Location 

Map 

33



Project: Date:   2/19/2015 

Project No: #13-373-02 

Scale: 1” = 60’ 

Figure No: 2 

Overton Building 
229 Elkenburg Street 

South Haven, MI 49090 

Sample and Drum Location Map 

SB-1 

SB-12 

SB-6 

SB-5 

SB-4 

SB-3 

SB-2 

SB-11 

SB-10 

SB-9 

SB-8 

SB-7 

SB-18 

SB-17 

SB-16 

SB-15 

SB-14 

SB-13 

SB-20 

SB-19 

SB-21 

SB-23 SB-22 

SB-12 

SB-24 

Soil Boring Location 

Drum Staging Area 

34



Project: Date:   2/19/2015 

Project No: #13-373-02 

Scale: 1” = 60’ 

Figure No: 3 

Overton Building 
229 Elkenburg Street 

South Haven, MI 49090 

Fill Location Map 

SB-1 

SB-12 

SB-6 

SB-5 

SB-4 

SB-3 

SB-2 

SB-11 

SB-10 

SB-9 

SB-8 

SB-7 

SB-18 

SB-17 

SB-16 

SB-15 

SB-14 

SB-13 

SB-20 

SB-19 

SB-21 

SB-23 SB-22 

SB-24 

Native Soils 
Fill Material Observed 

35



Project: Date:   2/19/2015 

Project No: #13-373-02 

Scale: 1” = 60’ 

Figure No: 4 

Overton Building 
229 Elkenburg Street 

South Haven, MI 49090 

Soil Impact Location Map 

SB-8 

SB-17 

SB-16 

SB-15 

SB-14 

SB-19 

SB-22 

36



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
APPENDIX C 

 Analytical Tables & Laboratory Analytical Report 
          

37



2-C
hloronaphthalene

A
cenaphthene

A
cenaphthylene

A
nthracene

B
enzo(a)

anthracene

B
enzo(a)pyrene

B
enzo(b)

fluoranthene

B
enzo(g,h,i)
perylene

B
enzo(k)

fluoranthene

C
hrysene

D
ibenzo(a,h)

anthracene

Fluoranthene

Fluorene

Indeno(1,2,3-cd)
pyrene

Phenanthrene

Pyrene

5.6E+07 4.1E+07 1.6E+06 2.3E+08 20,000 2,000 20,000 2.5E+06 2.0E+05 2.0E+06 2,000 4.6E+07 2.7E+07 20,000 1.6E+06 2.9E+07

620,000 300,000 5,900 41,000 NLL NLL NLL NLL NLL NLL NLL 730,000 390,000 NLL 56,000 480,000

Boring Date PID Depth
SB-1 2/9/15 0.0 .5'-1' -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
SB-2 2/9/15 0.0 1'-2' -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
SB-3 2/9/15 0.0 1'-2' -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
SB-4 2/9/15 0.2 0'-1' -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
SB-5 2/9/15 0.0 1'-2' -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
SB-6 2/9/15 0.0 1'-2' -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
SB-7 2/9/15 0.0 0'-1' -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
SB-8 2/9/15 0.0 0'-1' < 330 1,300 1,800 5,000 19,000 16,000 23,000 11,000 7,100 19,000 2,600 45,000 1,900 13,000 20,000 43,000
SB-9 2/9/15 0.0 1.5'-2' < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330

SB-14 2/10/15 0.0 2'-3' -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
SB-15 2/10/15 0.0 1'-2' < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 1,200 1,400 1,900 1,100 750 1,200 < 330 2,200 < 330 1,400 1,200 1,800
SB-16 2/10/15 0.0 1'-2' -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
SB-17 2/10/15 0.0 0'-1' -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
SB-18 2/10/15 0.0 1'-2' -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
SB-19 2/10/15 0.2 1'-2' < 330 400 < 330 830 1,600 1,600 2,100 1,100 790 1,400 < 330 3,400 580 1,600 3,000 2,700
SB-20 2/10/15 0.0 1'-2' -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
SB-21 2/10/15 0.0 1'-2' < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330
SB-22 2/10/15 0.6 0'-1' -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
SB-23 2/10/15 0.0 1'-2' -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
SB-24 2/10/15 0.0 3'-4' < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330 < 330

Notes: All samples are reported in parts per billion (ppb)
Bolded and shaded sample concrentrations exceed applicable MDEQ criteria
Criteria extracted from MDEQ Part 201 Table 2 Residential Soil Criteria, dated December 30, 2013
"NLL" means hazardous substance is not likely to leach under most soil conditions
"--" means no analysis was completed for this substance

Direct Contact 
Criteria

Residential Drinking 
Water Criteria

38



1,2,4-
Trim

ethylbenzene

1,3,5-
Trim

ethylbenzene

2-M
ethylnaphthalene

B
enzene

Ethylbenzene

M
TB

E

N
aphthalene

Toluene

Xylenes, Total

3.2E+7 
(C)

3.2E+7 
(C) 8.1E+06 1.8E+

5 (C)
2.2E+7 

(C)
1.5E+6 

(C) 1.6E+07 5.0E+7 
(C) 4.1E+8 (C)

2,100 1,800 57,000 100 1,500 800 35,000 16,000 5,600

Boring Date PID Depth
SB-1 2/9/15 0.0 .5'-1' -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
SB-2 2/9/15 0.0 1'-2' -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
SB-3 2/9/15 0.0 1'-2' -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
SB-4 2/9/15 0.2 0'-1' -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
SB-5 2/9/15 0.0 1'-2' -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
SB-6 2/9/15 0.0 1'-2' -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
SB-7 2/9/15 0.0 0'-1' -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
SB-8 2/9/15 0.0 0'-1' -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
SB-9 2/9/15 0.0 1.5'-2' -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --

SB-14 2/10/15 0.0 2'-3' -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
SB-15 2/10/15 0.0 1'-2' -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
SB-16 2/10/15 0.0 1'-2' -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
SB-17 2/10/15 0.0 0'-1' -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
SB-18 2/10/15 0.0 1'-2' -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
SB-19 2/10/15 0.2 1'-2' -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
SB-20 2/10/15 0.0 1'-2' -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
SB-21 2/10/15 0.0 1'-2' -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
SB-22 2/10/15 0.6 0'-1' < 100 < 100 < 330 < 50 < 50 < 250 < 330 < 100 150
SB-23 2/10/15 0.0 1'-2' -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
SB-24 2/10/15 0.0 3'-4' -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --

Direct Contact 
Criteria

Residential Drinking 
Water Criteria

39



Notes: All samples are reported in parts per billion (ppb)
Criteria extracted from MDEQ Part 201 Table 2 Residential Soil Criteria, dated December 30, 2013
"MTBE" Methyl tert butyl ether
"C" means the criterion developed under R 299.20 to R 299.26 exceeds the chemicalspecific soil saturation screening level (Csat). 
The
      person proposing or implementing response activity shall document whether additional response activity is required to control 

 

40



M
ercury

A
rsenic

B
arium

C
adm

ium

C
hrom

ium

C
opper

Lead

Selenium

Silver

Zinc

1.6E+05 7,600 3.7E+07 5.5E+05 7.9E+08 2.0E+07 4.0E+05 2.6E+06 2.5E+06 1.7E+08

1700 4,600 1.3E+06 6,000 1.0E+09 5.8E+06 700,000 4,000 4,500 2.4E+06

Boring Date PID Depth
SB-1 2/9/15 0.0 .5'-1' < 50 3,600 40,000 < 680 11,000 11,000 24,000 750 < 640 53,000
SB-2 2/9/15 0.0 1'-2' < 50 3,600 37,000 < 630 9,900 3,900 13,000 840 < 620 21,000
SB-3 2/9/15 0.0 1'-2' < 50 3,700 61,000 < 710 14,000 8,400 7,100 840 < 360 40,000
SB-4 2/9/15 0.2 0'-1' < 50 3,400 29,000 < 670 8,400 9,600 5,400 690 < 340 37,000
SB-5 2/9/15 0.0 1'-2' < 50 < 1,600 26,000 < 640 4,000 2,900 54,000 < 640 < 320 95,000
SB-6 2/9/15 0.0 1'-2' < 50 2,800 31,000 < 620 9,900 8,300 11,000 820 < 310 40,000
SB-7 2/9/15 0.0 0'-1' < 50 < 1,400 10,000 < 550 < 2,000 < 1,400 2,800 < 550 < 270 6,200
SB-8 2/9/15 0.0 0'-1' < 50 5,100 62,000 < 730 9,200 16,000 24,000 1,500 < 360 44,000
SB-9 2/9/15 0.0 1.5'-2' < 50 < 1,800 11,000 < 700 3,200 2,100 3,300 < 700 < 350 10,000

SB-14 2/10/15 0.0 2'-3' < 13 24,000 100,000 930 8,800 69,000 140,000 2,100 < 320 180,000
SB-15 2/10/15 0.0 1'-2' < 11 11,000 84,000 640 12,000 48,000 44,000 950 < 320 140,000
SB-16 2/10/15 0.0 1'-2' < 50 9,200 100,000 < 650 7,200 32,000 100,000 1,100 < 330 190,000
SB-17 2/10/15 0.0 0'-1' 130 6,400 120,000 2,200 8,700 120,000 140,000 1,600 < 340 180,000
SB-18 2/10/15 0.0 1'-2' < 50 3,400 89,000 < 730 4,400 27,000 29,000 1,000 < 370 31,000
SB-19 2/10/15 0.2 1'-2' < 64 7,600 43,000 1,700 6,500 140,000 49,000 770 < 340 88,000
SB-20 2/10/15 0.0 1'-2' < 50 2,200 47,000 < 760 6,800 6,800 19,000 1,000 < 380 29,000
SB-21 2/10/15 0.0 1'-2' < 50 < 1,700 20,000 < 690 2,800 4,800 13,000 < 690 < 340 38,000
SB-22 2/10/15 0.6 0'-1' < 50 23,000 720,000 16,000 15,000 1,800,000 630,000 2,000 < 340 940,000
SB-23 2/10/15 0.0 1'-2' < 50 2,200 22,000 < 790 3,300 25,000 16,000 < 790 < 400 24,000
SB-24 2/10/15 0.0 3'-4' < 50 3,200 55,000 < 660 7,700 14,000 36,000 750 < 330 64,000

Notes: All samples are reported in parts per billion (ppb)
Bolded and shaded sample concrentrations exceed applicable MDEQ criteria
Criteria extracted from MDEQ Part 201 Table 2 Residential Soil Criteria, dated December 30, 2013

Direct Contact 
Criteria

Residential Drinking 
Water Criteria

41



19-Feb-2015

Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.
Steve Dehring

Dear Steve,

Re: Overton Phase II 13-373-02 Work Order: 1502466

408 West Main St
Benton Harbor, MI  49022

ALS Environmental received 20 samples on 11-Feb-2015 01:00 PM for the analyses presented in the 
following report.

Project Manager
Joseph Ribar

 Joseph Ribar
Electronically approved by: Joseph Ribar

Certificate No: MI: 0022

The analytical data provided relates directly to the samples received by ALS Environmental and for only 
the analyses requested. 

Sample results are compliant with NELAP standard requirements and QC results achieved laboratory 
specifications.  Any exceptions are noted in the Case Narrative, or noted with qualifiers in the report or 
QC batch information. Should this laboratory report need to be reproduced, it should be reproduced in 
full unless written approval has been obtained from ALS Environmental. Samples will be disposed in 30 
days unless storage arrangements are made.

The total number of pages in this report is 40.

If you have any questions regarding this report, please feel free to contact me.

Sincerely,

ADDRESS 3352 128th Avenue  Holland, Michigan 49424-9263 | PHONE (616) 399-6070 | FAX (616) 399-6185

Report of Laboratory Analysis

42



Date: 19-Feb-15ALS Group USA, Corp

Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466
Work Order Sample Summary

Lab Samp ID Client Sample ID Collection DateTag Number Date ReceivedMatrix Hold
1502466-01 SB-1 (0.5'-1.5') Soil 2/9/2015 11:30 2/11/2015 13:00
1502466-02 SB-2 (1'-2') Soil 2/9/2015 12:15 2/11/2015 13:00
1502466-03 SB-3 (1'-2') Soil 2/9/2015 11:50 2/11/2015 13:00
1502466-04 SB-4 (0'-1') Soil 2/9/2015 12:50 2/11/2015 13:00
1502466-05 SB-5 (1'-2') Soil 2/9/2015 13:10 2/11/2015 13:00
1502466-06 SB-6 (1'-2') Soil 2/9/2015 13:30 2/11/2015 13:00
1502466-07 SB-7 (0'-1') Soil 2/9/2015 14:00 2/11/2015 13:00
1502466-08 SB-8 (0'-1') Soil 2/9/2015 14:10 2/11/2015 13:00
1502466-09 SB-9 (1.5'-2') Soil 2/9/2015 2/11/2015 13:00
1502466-10 SB-18 (1'-2') Soil 2/10/2015 09:50 2/11/2015 13:00
1502466-11 SB-19 (1'-2') Soil 2/10/2015 09:15 2/11/2015 13:00
1502466-12 SB-20 (1'-2') Soil 2/10/2015 10:10 2/11/2015 13:00
1502466-13 SB-21 (1'-2') Soil 2/10/2015 10:40 2/11/2015 13:00
1502466-14 SB-22 (0'-1') Soil 2/10/2015 10:55 2/11/2015 13:00
1502466-15 SB-23 (1'-2') Soil 2/10/2015 11:20 2/11/2015 13:00
1502466-16 SB-24 (3'-4') Soil 2/10/2015 11:30 2/11/2015 13:00
1502466-17 SB-14 (2'-3') Soil 2/10/2015 16:35 2/11/2015 13:00
1502466-18 SB-15 (1'-2') Soil 2/10/2015 16:55 2/11/2015 13:00
1502466-19 SB-16 (1'-2') Soil 2/10/2015 16:45 2/11/2015 13:00
1502466-20 SB-17 (0'-1') Soil 2/10/2015 17:00 2/11/2015 13:00

Sample Summary Page 1 of  1

43



     MDEQ      
OP Memo 2 

TDL 

Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client Sample ID: SB-1 (0.5'-1.5')

Collection Date: 2/9/2015 11:30:00 AM

Matrix: SOIL

Analyses Result Qual Units Date Analyzed
Report 
Limit 

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466

Dilution 
Factor

Lab ID: 1502466-01

ALS Group USA, Corp Date: 19-Feb-15

MERCURY BY CVAA SW7471 Analyst: LRPrep Date: 2/16/2015
Mercury 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 1ND 0.050 0.050

METALS BY ICP-MS SW6020A Analyst: MLPrep Date: 2/12/2015
Arsenic 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 43.6 1.7 0.10
Barium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 440 6.8 1.0
Cadmium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.68 0.20
Chromium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 411 2.0 2.0
Copper 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 411 1.7 1.0
Lead 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 424 1.7 1.0
Selenium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 40.75 0.68 0.20
Silver 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.34 0.10
Zinc 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 453 3.4 1.0

MOISTURE E160.3M Analyst: EVB
Moisture 2/13/2015% of sample 113 0.050 0

AR Page 1 of  20

Note: See Qualifiers page for a list of qualifiers and their definitions.

44



     MDEQ      
OP Memo 2 

TDL 

Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client Sample ID: SB-2 (1'-2')

Collection Date: 2/9/2015 12:15:00 PM

Matrix: SOIL

Analyses Result Qual Units Date Analyzed
Report 
Limit 

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466

Dilution 
Factor

Lab ID: 1502466-02

ALS Group USA, Corp Date: 19-Feb-15

MERCURY BY CVAA SW7471 Analyst: LRPrep Date: 2/16/2015
Mercury 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 1ND 0.050 0.050

METALS BY ICP-MS SW6020A Analyst: MLPrep Date: 2/12/2015
Arsenic 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 43.6 1.6 0.10
Barium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 437 6.3 1.0
Cadmium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.63 0.20
Chromium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 49.9 2.0 2.0
Copper 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 43.9 1.6 1.0
Lead 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 413 1.6 1.0
Selenium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 40.84 0.63 0.20
Silver 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.32 0.10
Zinc 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 421 3.2 1.0

MOISTURE E160.3M Analyst: EVB
Moisture 2/13/2015% of sample 17.5 0.050 0

AR Page 2 of  20

Note: See Qualifiers page for a list of qualifiers and their definitions.

45



     MDEQ      
OP Memo 2 

TDL 

Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client Sample ID: SB-3 (1'-2')

Collection Date: 2/9/2015 11:50:00 AM

Matrix: SOIL

Analyses Result Qual Units Date Analyzed
Report 
Limit 

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466

Dilution 
Factor

Lab ID: 1502466-03

ALS Group USA, Corp Date: 19-Feb-15

MERCURY BY CVAA SW7471 Analyst: LRPrep Date: 2/16/2015
Mercury 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 1ND 0.050 0.050

METALS BY ICP-MS SW6020A Analyst: MLPrep Date: 2/12/2015
Arsenic 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 43.7 1.8 0.10
Barium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 461 7.1 1.0
Cadmium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.71 0.20
Chromium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 414 2.0 2.0
Copper 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 48.4 1.8 1.0
Lead 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 47.1 1.8 1.0
Selenium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 40.84 0.71 0.20
Silver 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.36 0.10
Zinc 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 440 3.6 1.0

MOISTURE E160.3M Analyst: EVB
Moisture 2/13/2015% of sample 115 0.050 0

AR Page 3 of  20

Note: See Qualifiers page for a list of qualifiers and their definitions.

46



     MDEQ      
OP Memo 2 

TDL 

Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client Sample ID: SB-4 (0'-1')

Collection Date: 2/9/2015 12:50:00 PM

Matrix: SOIL

Analyses Result Qual Units Date Analyzed
Report 
Limit 

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466

Dilution 
Factor

Lab ID: 1502466-04

ALS Group USA, Corp Date: 19-Feb-15

MERCURY BY CVAA SW7471 Analyst: LRPrep Date: 2/16/2015
Mercury 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 1ND 0.050 0.050

METALS BY ICP-MS SW6020A Analyst: MLPrep Date: 2/12/2015
Arsenic 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 43.4 1.7 0.10
Barium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 429 6.7 1.0
Cadmium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.67 0.20
Chromium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 48.4 2.0 2.0
Copper 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 49.6 1.7 1.0
Lead 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 45.4 1.7 1.0
Selenium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 40.69 0.67 0.20
Silver 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.34 0.10
Zinc 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 437 3.4 1.0

MOISTURE E160.3M Analyst: EVB
Moisture 2/13/2015% of sample 112 0.050 0

AR Page 4 of  20

Note: See Qualifiers page for a list of qualifiers and their definitions.

47



     MDEQ      
OP Memo 2 

TDL 

Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client Sample ID: SB-5 (1'-2')

Collection Date: 2/9/2015 1:10:00 PM

Matrix: SOIL

Analyses Result Qual Units Date Analyzed
Report 
Limit 

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466

Dilution 
Factor

Lab ID: 1502466-05

ALS Group USA, Corp Date: 19-Feb-15

MERCURY BY CVAA SW7471 Analyst: LRPrep Date: 2/16/2015
Mercury 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 1ND 0.050 0.050

METALS BY ICP-MS SW6020A Analyst: MLPrep Date: 2/12/2015
Arsenic 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 1.6 0.10
Barium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 426 6.4 1.0
Cadmium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.64 0.20
Chromium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 44.0 2.0 2.0
Copper 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 42.9 1.6 1.0
Lead 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 454 1.6 1.0
Selenium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.64 0.20
Silver 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.32 0.10
Zinc 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 495 3.2 1.0

MOISTURE E160.3M Analyst: EVB
Moisture 2/13/2015% of sample 18.8 0.050 0

AR Page 5 of  20

Note: See Qualifiers page for a list of qualifiers and their definitions.

48



     MDEQ      
OP Memo 2 

TDL 

Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client Sample ID: SB-6 (1'-2')

Collection Date: 2/9/2015 1:30:00 PM

Matrix: SOIL

Analyses Result Qual Units Date Analyzed
Report 
Limit 

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466

Dilution 
Factor

Lab ID: 1502466-06

ALS Group USA, Corp Date: 19-Feb-15

MERCURY BY CVAA SW7471 Analyst: LRPrep Date: 2/16/2015
Mercury 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 1ND 0.050 0.050

METALS BY ICP-MS SW6020A Analyst: MLPrep Date: 2/12/2015
Arsenic 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 42.8 1.6 0.10
Barium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 431 6.2 1.0
Cadmium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.62 0.20
Chromium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 49.9 2.0 2.0
Copper 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 48.3 1.6 1.0
Lead 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 411 1.6 1.0
Selenium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 40.82 0.62 0.20
Silver 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.31 0.10
Zinc 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 440 3.1 1.0

MOISTURE E160.3M Analyst: EVB
Moisture 2/13/2015% of sample 113 0.050 0

AR Page 6 of  20

Note: See Qualifiers page for a list of qualifiers and their definitions.

49



     MDEQ      
OP Memo 2 

TDL 

Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client Sample ID: SB-7 (0'-1')

Collection Date: 2/9/2015 2:00:00 PM

Matrix: SOIL

Analyses Result Qual Units Date Analyzed
Report 
Limit 

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466

Dilution 
Factor

Lab ID: 1502466-07

ALS Group USA, Corp Date: 19-Feb-15

MERCURY BY CVAA SW7471 Analyst: LRPrep Date: 2/17/2015
Mercury 2/17/2015mg/Kg-dry 1ND 0.050 0.050

METALS BY ICP-MS SW6020A Analyst: MLPrep Date: 2/12/2015
Arsenic 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 1.4 0.10
Barium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 49.6 5.5 1.0
Cadmium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.55 0.20
Chromium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 2.0 2.0
Copper 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 1.4 1.0
Lead 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 42.8 1.4 1.0
Selenium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.55 0.20
Silver 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.27 0.10
Zinc 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 46.2 2.7 1.0

MOISTURE E160.3M Analyst: EVB
Moisture 2/13/2015% of sample 12.4 0.050 0

AR Page 7 of  20

Note: See Qualifiers page for a list of qualifiers and their definitions.

50



     MDEQ      
OP Memo 2 

TDL 

Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client Sample ID: SB-8 (0'-1')

Collection Date: 2/9/2015 2:10:00 PM

Matrix: SOIL

Analyses Result Qual Units Date Analyzed
Report 
Limit 

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466

Dilution 
Factor

Lab ID: 1502466-08

ALS Group USA, Corp Date: 19-Feb-15

MERCURY BY CVAA SW7471 Analyst: LRPrep Date: 2/17/2015
Mercury 2/17/2015mg/Kg-dry 1ND 0.050 0.050

METALS BY ICP-MS SW6020A Analyst: MLPrep Date: 2/12/2015
Arsenic 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 45.1 1.8 0.10
Barium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 462 7.3 1.0
Cadmium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.73 0.20
Chromium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 49.2 2.0 2.0
Copper 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 416 1.8 1.0
Lead 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 424 1.8 1.0
Selenium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 41.5 0.73 0.20
Silver 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.36 0.10
Zinc 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 444 3.6 1.0

SEMI-VOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUNDS SW846 8270D Analyst: RSPrep Date: 2/13/2015
2-Chloronaphthalene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 10ND 330 330
2-Methylnaphthalene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 10450 330 330
Acenaphthene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 101,300 330 330
Acenaphthylene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 101,800 330 330
Anthracene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 105,000 330 330
Benzo(a)anthracene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1019,000 330 330
Benzo(a)pyrene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1016,000 330 330
Benzo(b)fluoranthene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1023,000 330 330
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1011,000 330 330
Benzo(k)fluoranthene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 107,100 330 330
Chrysene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1019,000 330 330
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 102,600 330 330
Fluoranthene 2/18/2015µg/Kg-dry 5045,000 390 330
Fluorene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 101,900 330 330
Indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1013,000 330 330
Naphthalene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 10640 330 330
Phenanthrene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1020,000 330 330
Pyrene 2/18/2015µg/Kg-dry 5043,000 390 330

34-140    Surr: 2,4,6-Tribromophenol 2/16/2015%REC 1074.4
12-100    Surr: 2-Fluorobiphenyl 2/16/2015%REC 1067.8
33-117    Surr: 2-Fluorophenol 2/16/2015%REC 1070.2
25-137    Surr: 4-Terphenyl-d14 2/16/2015%REC 1088.4
37-107    Surr: Nitrobenzene-d5 2/16/2015%REC 1064.8
40-106    Surr: Phenol-d6 2/16/2015%REC 1063.4

MOISTURE E160.3M Analyst: EVB
Moisture 2/13/2015% of sample 115 0.050 0

AR Page 8 of  20

Note: See Qualifiers page for a list of qualifiers and their definitions.

51



     MDEQ      
OP Memo 2 

TDL 

Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client Sample ID: SB-9 (1.5'-2')

Collection Date: 2/9/2015

Matrix: SOIL

Analyses Result Qual Units Date Analyzed
Report 
Limit 

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466

Dilution 
Factor

Lab ID: 1502466-09

ALS Group USA, Corp Date: 19-Feb-15

MERCURY BY CVAA SW7471 Analyst: LRPrep Date: 2/17/2015
Mercury 2/17/2015mg/Kg-dry 1ND 0.050 0.050

METALS BY ICP-MS SW6020A Analyst: MLPrep Date: 2/12/2015
Arsenic 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 1.8 0.10
Barium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 411 7.0 1.0
Cadmium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.70 0.20
Chromium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 43.2 2.0 2.0
Copper 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 42.1 1.8 1.0
Lead 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 43.3 1.8 1.0
Selenium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.70 0.20
Silver 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.35 0.10
Zinc 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 410 3.5 1.0

SEMI-VOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUNDS SW846 8270D Analyst: RSPrep Date: 2/13/2015
2-Chloronaphthalene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
2-Methylnaphthalene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Acenaphthene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Acenaphthylene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Anthracene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Benzo(a)anthracene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Benzo(a)pyrene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Benzo(b)fluoranthene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Benzo(k)fluoranthene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Chrysene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Fluoranthene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Fluorene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Naphthalene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Phenanthrene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Pyrene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330

34-140    Surr: 2,4,6-Tribromophenol 2/16/2015%REC 169.6
12-100    Surr: 2-Fluorobiphenyl 2/16/2015%REC 165.2
33-117    Surr: 2-Fluorophenol 2/16/2015%REC 173.1
25-137    Surr: 4-Terphenyl-d14 2/16/2015%REC 187.8
37-107    Surr: Nitrobenzene-d5 2/16/2015%REC 162.0
40-106    Surr: Phenol-d6 2/16/2015%REC 167.8

MOISTURE E160.3M Analyst: EVB
Moisture 2/13/2015% of sample 114 0.050 0

AR Page 9 of  20

Note: See Qualifiers page for a list of qualifiers and their definitions.

52



     MDEQ      
OP Memo 2 

TDL 

Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client Sample ID: SB-18 (1'-2')

Collection Date: 2/10/2015 9:50:00 AM

Matrix: SOIL

Analyses Result Qual Units Date Analyzed
Report 
Limit 

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466

Dilution 
Factor

Lab ID: 1502466-10

ALS Group USA, Corp Date: 19-Feb-15

MERCURY BY CVAA SW7471 Analyst: LRPrep Date: 2/17/2015
Mercury 2/17/2015mg/Kg-dry 1ND 0.050 0.050

METALS BY ICP-MS SW6020A Analyst: MLPrep Date: 2/12/2015
Arsenic 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 43.4 1.8 0.10
Barium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 489 7.3 1.0
Cadmium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.73 0.20
Chromium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 44.4 2.0 2.0
Copper 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 427 1.8 1.0
Lead 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 429 1.8 1.0
Selenium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 41.0 0.73 0.20
Silver 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.37 0.10
Zinc 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 431 3.7 1.0

MOISTURE E160.3M Analyst: EVB
Moisture 2/13/2015% of sample 119 0.050 0

AR Page 10 of  20

Note: See Qualifiers page for a list of qualifiers and their definitions.

53



     MDEQ      
OP Memo 2 

TDL 

Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client Sample ID: SB-19 (1'-2')

Collection Date: 2/10/2015 9:15:00 AM

Matrix: SOIL

Analyses Result Qual Units Date Analyzed
Report 
Limit 

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466

Dilution 
Factor

Lab ID: 1502466-11

ALS Group USA, Corp Date: 19-Feb-15

MERCURY BY CVAA SW7471 Analyst: LRPrep Date: 2/17/2015
Mercury 2/17/2015mg/Kg-dry 10.064 0.050 0.050

METALS BY ICP-MS SW6020A Analyst: MLPrep Date: 2/12/2015
Arsenic 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 47.6 1.7 0.10
Barium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 443 6.8 1.0
Cadmium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 41.7 0.68 0.20
Chromium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 46.5 2.0 2.0
Copper 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 4140 1.7 1.0
Lead 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 449 1.7 1.0
Selenium 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 40.77 0.68 0.20
Silver 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.34 0.10
Zinc 2/13/2015mg/Kg-dry 488 3.4 1.0

SEMI-VOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUNDS SW846 8270D Analyst: RSPrep Date: 2/13/2015
2-Chloronaphthalene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 10ND 330 330
2-Methylnaphthalene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 10360 330 330
Acenaphthene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 10400 330 330
Acenaphthylene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 10ND 330 330
Anthracene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 10830 330 330
Benzo(a)anthracene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 101,600 330 330
Benzo(a)pyrene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 101,600 330 330
Benzo(b)fluoranthene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 102,100 330 330
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 101,100 330 330
Benzo(k)fluoranthene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 10790 330 330
Chrysene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 101,400 330 330
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 10ND 330 330
Fluoranthene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 103,400 330 330
Fluorene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 10580 330 330
Indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 101,600 330 330
Naphthalene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 10860 330 330
Phenanthrene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 103,000 330 330
Pyrene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 102,700 330 330

34-140    Surr: 2,4,6-Tribromophenol 2/16/2015%REC 1077.0
12-100    Surr: 2-Fluorobiphenyl 2/16/2015%REC 1064.8
33-117    Surr: 2-Fluorophenol 2/16/2015%REC 1066.0
25-137    Surr: 4-Terphenyl-d14 2/16/2015%REC 1088.6
37-107    Surr: Nitrobenzene-d5 2/16/2015%REC 1057.6
40-106    Surr: Phenol-d6 2/16/2015%REC 1062.6

MOISTURE E160.3M Analyst: EVB
Moisture 2/13/2015% of sample 117 0.050 0

AR Page 11 of  20

Note: See Qualifiers page for a list of qualifiers and their definitions.

54



     MDEQ      
OP Memo 2 

TDL 

Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client Sample ID: SB-20 (1'-2')

Collection Date: 2/10/2015 10:10:00 AM

Matrix: SOIL

Analyses Result Qual Units Date Analyzed
Report 
Limit 

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466

Dilution 
Factor

Lab ID: 1502466-12

ALS Group USA, Corp Date: 19-Feb-15

MERCURY BY CVAA SW7471 Analyst: LRPrep Date: 2/17/2015
Mercury 2/17/2015mg/Kg-dry 1ND 0.050 0.050

METALS BY ICP-MS SW6020A Analyst: MLPrep Date: 2/13/2015
Arsenic 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 42.2 1.9 0.10
Barium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 447 1.9 1.0
Cadmium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.76 0.20
Chromium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 46.8 2.0 2.0
Copper 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 46.8 1.9 1.0
Lead 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 419 1.9 1.0
Selenium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 41.0 0.76 0.20
Silver 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.38 0.10
Zinc 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 429 3.8 1.0

MOISTURE E160.3M Analyst: EVB
Moisture 2/13/2015% of sample 119 0.050 0

AR Page 12 of  20

Note: See Qualifiers page for a list of qualifiers and their definitions.

55



     MDEQ      
OP Memo 2 

TDL 

Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client Sample ID: SB-21 (1'-2')

Collection Date: 2/10/2015 10:40:00 AM

Matrix: SOIL

Analyses Result Qual Units Date Analyzed
Report 
Limit 

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466

Dilution 
Factor

Lab ID: 1502466-13

ALS Group USA, Corp Date: 19-Feb-15

MERCURY BY CVAA SW7471 Analyst: LRPrep Date: 2/17/2015
Mercury 2/17/2015mg/Kg-dry 1ND 0.050 0.050

METALS BY ICP-MS SW6020A Analyst: MLPrep Date: 2/13/2015
Arsenic 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 1.7 0.10
Barium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 420 1.7 1.0
Cadmium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.69 0.20
Chromium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 42.8 2.0 2.0
Copper 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 44.8 1.7 1.0
Lead 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 413 1.7 1.0
Selenium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.69 0.20
Silver 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.34 0.10
Zinc 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 438 3.4 1.0

SEMI-VOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUNDS SW846 8270D Analyst: RSPrep Date: 2/13/2015
2-Chloronaphthalene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
2-Methylnaphthalene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Acenaphthene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Acenaphthylene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Anthracene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Benzo(a)anthracene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Benzo(a)pyrene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Benzo(b)fluoranthene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Benzo(k)fluoranthene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Chrysene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Fluoranthene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Fluorene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Naphthalene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Phenanthrene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Pyrene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330

34-140    Surr: 2,4,6-Tribromophenol 2/16/2015%REC 182.3
12-100    Surr: 2-Fluorobiphenyl 2/16/2015%REC 161.3
33-117    Surr: 2-Fluorophenol 2/16/2015%REC 164.1
25-137    Surr: 4-Terphenyl-d14 2/16/2015%REC 193.4
37-107    Surr: Nitrobenzene-d5 2/16/2015%REC 155.1
40-106    Surr: Phenol-d6 2/16/2015%REC 156.2

MOISTURE E160.3M Analyst: EVB
Moisture 2/13/2015% of sample 115 0.050 0

AR Page 13 of  20

Note: See Qualifiers page for a list of qualifiers and their definitions.

56



     MDEQ      
OP Memo 2 

TDL 

Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client Sample ID: SB-22 (0'-1')

Collection Date: 2/10/2015 10:55:00 AM

Matrix: SOIL

Analyses Result Qual Units Date Analyzed
Report 
Limit 

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466

Dilution 
Factor

Lab ID: 1502466-14

ALS Group USA, Corp Date: 19-Feb-15

MERCURY BY CVAA SW7471 Analyst: LRPrep Date: 2/17/2015
Mercury 2/17/2015mg/Kg-dry 1ND 0.050 0.050

METALS BY ICP-MS SW6020A Analyst: MLPrep Date: 2/13/2015
Arsenic 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 423 1.7 0.10
Barium 2/17/2015mg/Kg-dry 40720 17 1.0
Cadmium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 416 0.69 0.20
Chromium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 415 2.0 2.0
Copper 2/17/2015mg/Kg-dry 401,800 17 1.0
Lead 2/17/2015mg/Kg-dry 40630 17 1.0
Selenium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 42.0 0.69 0.20
Silver 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.34 0.10
Zinc 2/17/2015mg/Kg-dry 40940 34 1.0

VOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUNDS SW8260B Analyst: BGPrep Date: 2/13/2015
1,2,4-Trimethylbenzene 2/13/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 100 100
1,3,5-Trimethylbenzene 2/13/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 100 100
2-Methylnaphthalene 2/13/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Benzene 2/13/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 50 50
Ethylbenzene 2/13/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 50 50
m,p-Xylene 2/13/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 100 100
Methyl tert-butyl ether 2/13/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 250 250
Naphthalene 2/13/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
o-Xylene 2/13/2015µg/Kg-dry 172 50 50
Toluene 2/13/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 100 100
Xylenes, Total 2/13/2015µg/Kg-dry 1150 150 150

70-130    Surr: 1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 2/13/2015%REC 1100
70-130    Surr: 4-Bromofluorobenzene 2/13/2015%REC 197.8
70-130    Surr: Dibromofluoromethane 2/13/2015%REC 198.6
70-130    Surr: Toluene-d8 2/13/2015%REC 196.5

MOISTURE E160.3M Analyst: EVB
Moisture 2/13/2015% of sample 117 0.050 0

AR Page 14 of  20

Note: See Qualifiers page for a list of qualifiers and their definitions.

57



     MDEQ      
OP Memo 2 

TDL 

Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client Sample ID: SB-23 (1'-2')

Collection Date: 2/10/2015 11:20:00 AM

Matrix: SOIL

Analyses Result Qual Units Date Analyzed
Report 
Limit 

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466

Dilution 
Factor

Lab ID: 1502466-15

ALS Group USA, Corp Date: 19-Feb-15

MERCURY BY CVAA SW7471 Analyst: LRPrep Date: 2/17/2015
Mercury 2/17/2015mg/Kg-dry 1ND 0.050 0.050

METALS BY ICP-MS SW6020A Analyst: MLPrep Date: 2/13/2015
Arsenic 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 42.2 2.0 0.10
Barium 2/17/2015mg/Kg-dry 422 2.0 1.0
Cadmium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.79 0.20
Chromium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 43.3 2.0 2.0
Copper 2/17/2015mg/Kg-dry 425 2.0 1.0
Lead 2/17/2015mg/Kg-dry 416 2.0 1.0
Selenium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.79 0.20
Silver 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.40 0.10
Zinc 2/17/2015mg/Kg-dry 424 4.0 1.0

MOISTURE E160.3M Analyst: EVB
Moisture 2/13/2015% of sample 121 0.050 0

AR Page 15 of  20

Note: See Qualifiers page for a list of qualifiers and their definitions.

58



     MDEQ      
OP Memo 2 

TDL 

Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client Sample ID: SB-24 (3'-4')

Collection Date: 2/10/2015 11:30:00 AM

Matrix: SOIL

Analyses Result Qual Units Date Analyzed
Report 
Limit 

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466

Dilution 
Factor

Lab ID: 1502466-16

ALS Group USA, Corp Date: 19-Feb-15

MERCURY BY CVAA SW7471 Analyst: LRPrep Date: 2/17/2015
Mercury 2/17/2015mg/Kg-dry 1ND 0.050 0.050

METALS BY ICP-MS SW6020A Analyst: MLPrep Date: 2/13/2015
Arsenic 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 43.2 1.6 0.10
Barium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 455 1.6 1.0
Cadmium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.66 0.20
Chromium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 47.7 2.0 2.0
Copper 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 414 1.6 1.0
Lead 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 436 1.6 1.0
Selenium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 40.75 0.66 0.20
Silver 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.33 0.10
Zinc 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 464 3.3 1.0

SEMI-VOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUNDS SW846 8270D Analyst: RSPrep Date: 2/13/2015
2-Chloronaphthalene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
2-Methylnaphthalene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Acenaphthene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Acenaphthylene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Anthracene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Benzo(a)anthracene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Benzo(a)pyrene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Benzo(b)fluoranthene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Benzo(k)fluoranthene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Chrysene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Fluoranthene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Fluorene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Naphthalene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Phenanthrene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330
Pyrene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 1ND 330 330

34-140    Surr: 2,4,6-Tribromophenol 2/16/2015%REC 176.6
12-100    Surr: 2-Fluorobiphenyl 2/16/2015%REC 161.0
33-117    Surr: 2-Fluorophenol 2/16/2015%REC 160.8
25-137    Surr: 4-Terphenyl-d14 2/16/2015%REC 189.4
37-107    Surr: Nitrobenzene-d5 2/16/2015%REC 157.1
40-106    Surr: Phenol-d6 2/16/2015%REC 158.8

MOISTURE E160.3M Analyst: EVB
Moisture 2/13/2015% of sample 117 0.050 0

AR Page 16 of  20

Note: See Qualifiers page for a list of qualifiers and their definitions.

59



     MDEQ      
OP Memo 2 

TDL 

Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client Sample ID: SB-14 (2'-3')

Collection Date: 2/10/2015 4:35:00 PM

Matrix: SOIL

Analyses Result Qual Units Date Analyzed
Report 
Limit 

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466

Dilution 
Factor

Lab ID: 1502466-17

ALS Group USA, Corp Date: 19-Feb-15

MERCURY BY CVAA SW7471 Analyst: LRPrep Date: 2/17/2015
Mercury 2/17/2015mg/Kg-dry 10.13 0.050 0.050

METALS BY ICP-MS SW6020A Analyst: MLPrep Date: 2/13/2015
Arsenic 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 424 1.6 0.10
Barium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 4100 1.6 1.0
Cadmium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 40.93 0.65 0.20
Chromium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 48.8 2.0 2.0
Copper 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 469 1.6 1.0
Lead 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 4140 1.6 1.0
Selenium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 42.1 0.65 0.20
Silver 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.32 0.10
Zinc 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 4180 3.2 1.0

MOISTURE E160.3M Analyst: EVB
Moisture 2/13/2015% of sample 117 0.050 0

AR Page 17 of  20

Note: See Qualifiers page for a list of qualifiers and their definitions.

60



     MDEQ      
OP Memo 2 

TDL 

Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client Sample ID: SB-15 (1'-2')

Collection Date: 2/10/2015 4:55:00 PM

Matrix: SOIL

Analyses Result Qual Units Date Analyzed
Report 
Limit 

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466

Dilution 
Factor

Lab ID: 1502466-18

ALS Group USA, Corp Date: 19-Feb-15

MERCURY BY CVAA SW7471 Analyst: LRPrep Date: 2/17/2015
Mercury 2/17/2015mg/Kg-dry 10.11 0.050 0.050

METALS BY ICP-MS SW6020A Analyst: MLPrep Date: 2/13/2015
Arsenic 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 411 1.6 0.10
Barium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 484 1.6 1.0
Cadmium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 40.64 0.63 0.20
Chromium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 412 2.0 2.0
Copper 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 448 1.6 1.0
Lead 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 444 1.6 1.0
Selenium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 40.95 0.63 0.20
Silver 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.32 0.10
Zinc 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 4140 3.2 1.0

SEMI-VOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUNDS SW846 8270D Analyst: RSPrep Date: 2/13/2015
2-Chloronaphthalene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 10ND 330 330
2-Methylnaphthalene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 10ND 330 330
Acenaphthene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 10ND 330 330
Acenaphthylene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 10ND 330 330
Anthracene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 10ND 330 330
Benzo(a)anthracene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 101,200 330 330
Benzo(a)pyrene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 101,400 330 330
Benzo(b)fluoranthene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 101,900 330 330
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 101,100 330 330
Benzo(k)fluoranthene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 10750 330 330
Chrysene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 101,200 330 330
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 10ND 330 330
Fluoranthene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 102,200 330 330
Fluorene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 10ND 330 330
Indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 101,400 330 330
Naphthalene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 10ND 330 330
Phenanthrene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 101,200 330 330
Pyrene 2/16/2015µg/Kg-dry 101,800 330 330

34-140    Surr: 2,4,6-Tribromophenol 2/16/2015%REC 1089.8
12-100    Surr: 2-Fluorobiphenyl 2/16/2015%REC 1072.2
33-117    Surr: 2-Fluorophenol 2/16/2015%REC 1073.6
25-137    Surr: 4-Terphenyl-d14 2/16/2015%REC 1097.6
37-107    Surr: Nitrobenzene-d5 2/16/2015%REC 1066.0
40-106    Surr: Phenol-d6 2/16/2015%REC 1067.0

MOISTURE E160.3M Analyst: EVB
Moisture 2/13/2015% of sample 116 0.050 0

AR Page 18 of  20

Note: See Qualifiers page for a list of qualifiers and their definitions.

61



     MDEQ      
OP Memo 2 

TDL 

Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client Sample ID: SB-16 (1'-2')

Collection Date: 2/10/2015 4:45:00 PM

Matrix: SOIL

Analyses Result Qual Units Date Analyzed
Report 
Limit 

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466

Dilution 
Factor

Lab ID: 1502466-19

ALS Group USA, Corp Date: 19-Feb-15

MERCURY BY CVAA SW7471 Analyst: LRPrep Date: 2/17/2015
Mercury 2/17/2015mg/Kg-dry 1ND 0.050 0.050

METALS BY ICP-MS SW6020A Analyst: MLPrep Date: 2/13/2015
Arsenic 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 49.2 1.6 0.10
Barium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 4100 1.6 1.0
Cadmium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.65 0.20
Chromium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 47.2 2.0 2.0
Copper 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 432 1.6 1.0
Lead 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 4100 1.6 1.0
Selenium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 41.1 0.65 0.20
Silver 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.33 0.10
Zinc 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 4190 3.3 1.0

MOISTURE E160.3M Analyst: EVB
Moisture 2/13/2015% of sample 115 0.050 0

AR Page 19 of  20

Note: See Qualifiers page for a list of qualifiers and their definitions.

62



     MDEQ      
OP Memo 2 

TDL 

Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client Sample ID: SB-17 (0'-1')

Collection Date: 2/10/2015 5:00:00 PM

Matrix: SOIL

Analyses Result Qual Units Date Analyzed
Report 
Limit 

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466

Dilution 
Factor

Lab ID: 1502466-20

ALS Group USA, Corp Date: 19-Feb-15

MERCURY BY CVAA SW7471 Analyst: LRPrep Date: 2/17/2015
Mercury 2/17/2015mg/Kg-dry 10.13 0.050 0.050

METALS BY ICP-MS SW6020A Analyst: MLPrep Date: 2/13/2015
Arsenic 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 46.4 1.7 0.10
Barium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 4120 1.7 1.0
Cadmium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 42.2 0.69 0.20
Chromium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 48.7 2.0 2.0
Copper 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 4120 1.7 1.0
Lead 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 4140 1.7 1.0
Selenium 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 41.6 0.69 0.20
Silver 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 4ND 0.34 0.10
Zinc 2/16/2015mg/Kg-dry 4180 3.4 1.0

MOISTURE E160.3M Analyst: EVB
Moisture 2/13/2015% of sample 116 0.050 0

AR Page 20 of  20

Note: See Qualifiers page for a list of qualifiers and their definitions.

63



ALS Group USA, Corp Date: 19-Feb-15

QUALIFIERS, 
ACRONYMS, UNITSProject: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

WorkOrder: 1502466

Units Reported             Description 

Qualifier             Description

Acronym             Description 

Percent of Sample% of sample

Micrograms per Kilogram Dry Weightµg/Kg-dry

Milligrams per Kilogram Dry Weightmg/Kg-dry

Value exceeds Regulatory Limit*

Not accrediteda

Analyte detected in the associated Method Blank above the Reporting LimitB

Value above quantitation rangeE

Analyzed outside of Holding TimeH

Analyte is present at an estimated concentration between the MDL and Report LimitJ

Not offered for accreditationn

Not Detected at the Reporting LimitND

Sample amount is > 4 times amount spikedO

Dual Column results percent difference > 40%P

RPD above laboratory control limitR

Spike Recovery outside laboratory control limitsS

Analyzed but not detected above the MDLU

Method DuplicateDUP

Laboratory Control SampleLCS

Laboratory Control Sample DuplicateLCSD

Limit of Detection (see MDL)LOD

Limit of Quantitation (see PQL)LOQ

Method BlankMBLK

Method Detection LimitMDL

Matrix SpikeMS

Matrix Spike DuplicateMSD

Practical Quantitation LimitPQL

Relative Percent DifferenceRPD

Target Detection LimitTDL

Too Numerous To CountTNTC

APHA Standard MethodsA

ASTMD

EPAE

SW-846 Update IIISW

QF Page 1 of 1
64



Date: 19-Feb-15ALS Group USA, Corp

Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466
QC BATCH REPORT

Batch ID: 67705 Instrument ID HG1 Method: SW7471

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/16/2015 01:31 PM

Prep Date: 2/16/2015

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: mg/Kg

PQL

Client ID: SeqNo: 3144434

MBLK

Run ID: HG1_150216A

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 1

Sample ID: MBLK-67705-67705

Mercury 0.020ND

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/16/2015 01:33 PM

Prep Date: 2/16/2015

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: mg/Kg

PQL

Client ID: SeqNo: 3144435

LCS

Run ID: HG1_150216A

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 1

Sample ID: LCS-67705-67705

000.1665Mercury 106  80-1200.0200.1757

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/16/2015 01:37 PM

Prep Date: 2/16/2015

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: mg/Kg

PQL

Client ID: SeqNo: 3144437

MS

Run ID: HG1_150216A

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 1

Sample ID: 15011096-01BMS

0-0.00051480.1294Mercury 112  75-1250.0160.1438

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/16/2015 01:40 PM

Prep Date: 2/16/2015

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: mg/Kg

PQL

Client ID: SeqNo: 3144438

MSD

Run ID: HG1_150216A

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 1

Sample ID: 15011096-01BMSD

0.1438-0.00051480.1276Mercury 111  75-125 350.015 1.960.1411

The following samples were analyzed in this batch: 1502466-01A 1502466-02A 1502466-03A
1502466-04A 1502466-05A 1502466-06A

QC Page: 1 of  14
Note: See Qualifiers Page for a list of Qualifiers and their explanation.

65



Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466
QC BATCH REPORT

Batch ID: 67775 Instrument ID HG1 Method: SW7471

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/17/2015 03:14 PM

Prep Date: 2/17/2015

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: mg/Kg

PQL

Client ID: SeqNo: 3146374

MBLK

Run ID: HG1_150217A

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 1

Sample ID: MBLK-67775-67775

Mercury 0.020ND

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/17/2015 03:16 PM

Prep Date: 2/17/2015

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: mg/Kg

PQL

Client ID: SeqNo: 3146375

LCS

Run ID: HG1_150217A

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 1

Sample ID: LCS-67775-67775

000.1665Mercury 104  80-1200.0200.1723

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/17/2015 03:21 PM

Prep Date: 2/17/2015

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: mg/Kg

PQL

Client ID: SeqNo: 3146377

MS

Run ID: HG1_150217A

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 1

Sample ID: 1502495-10BMS

S00.083810.1014Mercury 40.7  75-1250.0120.1251

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/17/2015 03:23 PM

Prep Date: 2/17/2015

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: mg/Kg

PQL

Client ID: SeqNo: 3146378

MSD

Run ID: HG1_150217A

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 1

Sample ID: 1502495-10BMSD

S0.12510.083810.1001Mercury 44.5  75-125 350.012 2.590.1284

The following samples were analyzed in this batch: 1502466-07A 1502466-08A 1502466-09A
1502466-10A 1502466-11A 1502466-12A
1502466-13A 1502466-14A 1502466-15A
1502466-16A 1502466-17A 1502466-18A
1502466-19A 1502466-20A

QC Page: 2 of  14
Note: See Qualifiers Page for a list of Qualifiers and their explanation.

66



Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466
QC BATCH REPORT

Batch ID: 67660 Instrument ID ICPMS1 Method: SW6020A

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/13/2015 02:06 AM

Prep Date: 2/12/2015

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: mg/Kg

PQL

Client ID: SeqNo: 3142354

MBLK

Run ID: ICPMS1_150212A

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 1

Sample ID: MBLK-67660-67660

Arsenic 0.25ND

Cadmium 0.10ND

Chromium 0.25ND

Copper 0.25ND

Lead 0.25ND

Selenium 0.25ND

Silver 0.25ND

Zinc 0.50ND

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/13/2015 07:32 PM

Prep Date: 2/12/2015

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: mg/Kg

PQL

Client ID: SeqNo: 3143406

MBLK

Run ID: ICPMS1_150213A

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 1

Sample ID: MBLK-67660-67660

Barium 0.25ND

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/13/2015 02:43 AM

Prep Date: 2/12/2015

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: mg/Kg

PQL

Client ID: SeqNo: 3142359

LCS

Run ID: ICPMS1_150212A

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 1

Sample ID: LCS-67660-67660

005Arsenic 88.3  80-1200.254.416

B005Barium 94.1  80-1200.254.705

005Cadmium 95.5  80-1200.104.773

005Chromium 95.8  80-1200.254.788

005Copper 93.7  80-1200.254.685

005Lead 93.7  80-1200.254.686

005Zinc 93.4  80-1200.504.668

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/13/2015 07:56 PM

Prep Date: 2/12/2015

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: mg/Kg

PQL

Client ID: SeqNo: 3143417

LCS

Run ID: ICPMS1_150213A

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 1

Sample ID: LCS-67660-67660

005Selenium 82.2  80-1200.254.112

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/16/2015 04:51 PM

Prep Date: 2/12/2015

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: mg/Kg

PQL

Client ID: SeqNo: 3144986

LCS

Run ID: ICPMS1_150216A

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 1

Sample ID: LCS-67660-67660

005Silver 103  80-1200.255.17

QC Page: 3 of  14
Note: See Qualifiers Page for a list of Qualifiers and their explanation.

67



Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466
QC BATCH REPORT

Batch ID: 67660 Instrument ID ICPMS1 Method: SW6020A

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/13/2015 03:01 AM

Prep Date: 2/12/2015

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: mg/Kg

PQL

Client ID: SeqNo: 3142363

MS

Run ID: ICPMS1_150212A

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 1

Sample ID: 1502475-02AMS

01.3476.596Arsenic 99.2  75-1250.337.889

BS07.7546.596Barium 169  75-1250.3318.88

00.056426.596Cadmium 101  75-1250.136.689

S04.5766.596Chromium 69.1  75-1250.339.136

01.7946.596Copper 76.9  75-1250.336.867

01.7236.596Lead 91.1  75-1250.337.731

SO027.366.596Zinc 60.9  75-1250.6631.39

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/13/2015 08:08 PM

Prep Date: 2/12/2015

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: mg/Kg

PQL

Client ID: SeqNo: 3143422

MS

Run ID: ICPMS1_150213A

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 10

Sample ID: 1502475-02AMS

00.46946.596Selenium 103  75-1253.37.289

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/16/2015 06:34 PM

Prep Date: 2/12/2015

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: mg/Kg

PQL

Client ID: SeqNo: 3145465

MS

Run ID: ICPMS1_150216A

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 10

Sample ID: 1502475-02AMS

00.028186.596Silver 102  75-1253.36.788

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/13/2015 03:08 AM

Prep Date: 2/12/2015

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: mg/Kg

PQL

Client ID: SeqNo: 3142365

MSD

Run ID: ICPMS1_150212A

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 1

Sample ID: 1502475-02AMSD

7.8891.3476.588Arsenic 86.5  75-125 250.33 11.37.042

B18.887.7546.588Barium 117  75-125 250.33 2015.45

6.6890.056426.588Cadmium 93.3  75-125 250.13 7.516.204

9.1364.5766.588Chromium 86.6  75-125 250.33 11.810.28

6.8671.7946.588Copper 75.9  75-125 250.33 1.16.792

7.7311.7236.588Lead 83.3  75-125 250.33 6.927.213

SO31.3927.366.588Zinc 63.4  75-125 250.66 0.49731.54

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/13/2015 08:14 PM

Prep Date: 2/12/2015

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: mg/Kg

PQL

Client ID: SeqNo: 3143424

MSD

Run ID: ICPMS1_150213A

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 10

Sample ID: 1502475-02AMSD

7.2890.46946.588Selenium 97.5  75-125 253.3 5.626.891

QC Page: 4 of  14
Note: See Qualifiers Page for a list of Qualifiers and their explanation.

68



Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466
QC BATCH REPORT

Batch ID: 67660 Instrument ID ICPMS1 Method: SW6020A

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/16/2015 06:40 PM

Prep Date: 2/12/2015

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: mg/Kg

PQL

Client ID: SeqNo: 3145467

MSD

Run ID: ICPMS1_150216A

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 10

Sample ID: 1502475-02AMSD

6.7880.028186.588Silver 94  75-125 253.3 8.736.22

The following samples were analyzed in this batch: 1502466-01A 1502466-02A 1502466-03A
1502466-04A 1502466-05A 1502466-06A
1502466-07A 1502466-08A 1502466-09A
1502466-10A 1502466-11A

QC Page: 5 of  14
Note: See Qualifiers Page for a list of Qualifiers and their explanation.

69



Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466
QC BATCH REPORT

Batch ID: 67695 Instrument ID ICPMS1 Method: SW6020A

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/16/2015 01:55 PM

Prep Date: 2/13/2015

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: mg/Kg

PQL

Client ID: SeqNo: 3144761

MBLK

Run ID: ICPMS1_150216A

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 1

Sample ID: MBLK-67695-67695

Arsenic 0.25ND

Barium 0.25ND

Cadmium 0.10ND

Chromium 0.25ND

Copper 0.25ND

Lead 0.25ND

Selenium 0.25ND

JSilver 0.250.004301

Zinc 0.50ND

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/16/2015 02:01 PM

Prep Date: 2/13/2015

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: mg/Kg

PQL

Client ID: SeqNo: 3144771

LCS

Run ID: ICPMS1_150216A

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 1

Sample ID: LCS-67695-67695

005Arsenic 89.5  80-1200.254.476

005Barium 91.4  80-1200.254.568

005Cadmium 93.7  80-1200.104.686

005Chromium 99.5  80-1200.254.973

005Copper 98.3  80-1200.254.916

005Lead 93.9  80-1200.254.694

005Selenium 97.6  80-1200.254.878

005Silver 96.3  80-1200.254.814

005Zinc 96.2  80-1200.504.808

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/16/2015 02:49 PM

Prep Date: 2/13/2015

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: mg/Kg

PQL

Client ID: SeqNo: 3144788

MS

Run ID: ICPMS1_150216A

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 4

Sample ID: 1502468-01AMS

SO0227.96.623Arsenic 190  75-1251.3240.5

SO0160.66.623Barium 192  75-1251.3173.4

013.086.623Cadmium 99.8  75-1250.5319.7

SO062.036.623Chromium 2.08  75-1251.362.17

SO0206.46.623Copper -208  75-1251.3192.6

SO0451.36.623Lead 162  75-1251.3462

01.3066.623Selenium 78.1  75-1251.36.477

S05.5756.623Silver 66.9  75-1251.310.01

SEO038766.623Zinc -6280  75-1252.63460

QC Page: 6 of  14
Note: See Qualifiers Page for a list of Qualifiers and their explanation.

70



Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466
QC BATCH REPORT

Batch ID: 67695 Instrument ID ICPMS1 Method: SW6020A

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/16/2015 02:55 PM

Prep Date: 2/13/2015

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: mg/Kg

PQL

Client ID: SeqNo: 3144789

MSD

Run ID: ICPMS1_150216A

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 4

Sample ID: 1502468-01AMSD

SO240.5227.96.562Arsenic 144  75-125 251.3 1.32237.3

SO173.4160.66.562Barium 152  75-125 251.3 1.6170.6

19.713.086.562Cadmium 97.5  75-125 250.52 1.119.48

SO62.1762.036.562Chromium 47.8  75-125 251.3 4.7165.17

SO192.6206.46.562Copper -62.6  75-125 251.3 4.89202.3

O462451.36.562Lead 115  75-125 251.3 0.694458.8

6.4771.3066.562Selenium 94  75-125 251.3 14.37.472

10.015.5756.562Silver 75.3  75-125 251.3 4.9610.52

SEO346038766.562Zinc -3190  75-125 252.6 5.813667

The following samples were analyzed in this batch: 1502466-12A 1502466-13A 1502466-14A
1502466-15A 1502466-16A 1502466-17A
1502466-18A 1502466-19A 1502466-20A

QC Page: 7 of  14
Note: See Qualifiers Page for a list of Qualifiers and their explanation.

71



Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466
QC BATCH REPORT

Batch ID: 67688 Instrument ID SVMS4 Method: SW846 8270D

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/16/2015 01:30 PM

Prep Date: 2/13/2015

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: µg/Kg

PQL

Client ID: SeqNo: 3146116

MBLK

Run ID: SVMS4_150216A

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 1

Sample ID: SBLKS1-67688-67688

2-Chloronaphthalene 6.7ND

2-Methylnaphthalene 6.7ND

Acenaphthene 6.7ND

Acenaphthylene 6.7ND

Anthracene 6.7ND

Benzo(a)anthracene 6.7ND

Benzo(a)pyrene 6.7ND

Benzo(b)fluoranthene 6.7ND

Benzo(g,h,i)perylene 6.7ND

Benzo(k)fluoranthene 6.7ND

Chrysene 6.7ND

Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene 6.7ND

Fluoranthene 6.7ND

Fluorene 6.7ND

Indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene 6.7ND

Naphthalene 6.7ND

Phenanthrene 6.7ND

Pyrene 6.7ND

001667 Surr: 2,4,6-Tribromophenol 54.9  34-1400914.7

001667 Surr: 2-Fluorobiphenyl 57.3  12-1000954.3

001667 Surr: 2-Fluorophenol 62.1  33-11701034

001667 Surr: 4-Terphenyl-d14 102  25-13701696

001667 Surr: Nitrobenzene-d5 58  37-1070966.7

001667 Surr: Phenol-d6 59.2  40-1060986.7

QC Page: 8 of  14
Note: See Qualifiers Page for a list of Qualifiers and their explanation.

72



Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466
QC BATCH REPORT

Batch ID: 67688 Instrument ID SVMS4 Method: SW846 8270D

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/16/2015 01:56 PM

Prep Date: 2/13/2015

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: µg/Kg

PQL

Client ID: SeqNo: 3146119

LCS

Run ID: SVMS4_150216A

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 1

Sample ID: SLCSS1-67688-67688

00666.72-Chloronaphthalene 80.5  45-1056.7537

00666.72-Methylnaphthalene 79.5  45-1056.7530

00666.7Acenaphthene 75.5  45-1106.7503.3

00666.7Acenaphthylene 76.8  45-1056.7512

00666.7Anthracene 94.1  55-1056.7627.3

00666.7Benzo(a)anthracene 85.7  50-1106.7571.3

00666.7Benzo(a)pyrene 87.1  50-1106.7581

00666.7Benzo(b)fluoranthene 89.2  45-1156.7594.7

00666.7Benzo(g,h,i)perylene 98.4  40-1256.7656.3

00666.7Benzo(k)fluoranthene 90.1  45-1156.7600.7

00666.7Chrysene 94.2  55-1106.7628.3

00666.7Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene 99.9  40-1256.7666

00666.7Fluoranthene 87.7  55-1156.7585

00666.7Fluorene 83.6  50-1106.7557.7

00666.7Indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene 100  40-1206.7668.3

00666.7Naphthalene 73.9  40-1056.7492.7

00666.7Phenanthrene 83.8  50-1106.7559

00666.7Pyrene 95.4  45-1256.7636.3

001667 Surr: 2,4,6-Tribromophenol 83.3  34-14001388

001667 Surr: 2-Fluorobiphenyl 73.7  12-10001228

001667 Surr: 2-Fluorophenol 79.4  33-11701324

001667 Surr: 4-Terphenyl-d14 103  25-13701710

001667 Surr: Nitrobenzene-d5 71.5  37-10701192

001667 Surr: Phenol-d6 75.5  40-10601259

QC Page: 9 of  14
Note: See Qualifiers Page for a list of Qualifiers and their explanation.

73



Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466
QC BATCH REPORT

Batch ID: 67688 Instrument ID SVMS4 Method: SW846 8270D

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/16/2015 04:18 PM

Prep Date: 2/13/2015

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: µg/Kg

PQL

Client ID: SB-21 (1'-2') SeqNo: 3146121

MS

Run ID: SVMS4_150216A

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 1

Sample ID: 1502466-13A MS

0012932-Chloronaphthalene 73.5  45-10513950.5

014.3812932-Methylnaphthalene 72.4  45-10513951.1

001293Acenaphthene 70.5  45-11013912.3

026.141293Acenaphthylene 69  45-10513918.1

011.441293Anthracene 90.6  55-105131183

055.551293Benzo(a)anthracene 83.7  50-110131138

080.061293Benzo(a)pyrene 84  50-110131166

082.021293Benzo(b)fluoranthene 84  45-115131168

058.821293Benzo(g,h,i)perylene 90  40-125131223

045.091293Benzo(k)fluoranthene 83  45-115131118

045.091293Chrysene 88.3  55-110131187

001293Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene 91  40-125131177

085.611293Fluoranthene 86.2  55-115131200

001293Fluorene 79.2  50-110131024

084.311293Indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene 90.9  40-120131260

001293Naphthalene 66.2  40-10513856.1

046.731293Phenanthrene 81.6  50-110131102

076.141293Pyrene 89.5  45-125131234

003233 Surr: 2,4,6-Tribromophenol 89.1  34-14002879

003233 Surr: 2-Fluorobiphenyl 66.2  12-10002139

003233 Surr: 2-Fluorophenol 70.4  33-11702276

003233 Surr: 4-Terphenyl-d14 93.8  25-13703032

003233 Surr: Nitrobenzene-d5 65.8  37-10702127

003233 Surr: Phenol-d6 64.7  40-10602092

QC Page: 10 of  14
Note: See Qualifiers Page for a list of Qualifiers and their explanation.

74



Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466
QC BATCH REPORT

Batch ID: 67688 Instrument ID SVMS4 Method: SW846 8270D

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/16/2015 04:44 PM

Prep Date: 2/13/2015

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: µg/Kg

PQL

Client ID: SB-21 (1'-2') SeqNo: 3146122

MSD

Run ID: SVMS4_150216A

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 1

Sample ID: 1502466-13A MSD

950.5012902-Chloronaphthalene 66.4  45-105 3013 10.4856.4

951.114.3812902-Methylnaphthalene 68.4  45-105 3013 5.85897.1

912.301290Acenaphthene 69.5  45-110 3013 1.69897.1

918.126.141290Acenaphthylene 67.7  45-105 3013 2.11899

118311.441290Anthracene 89.2  55-105 3013 1.861161

113855.551290Benzo(a)anthracene 74.3  50-110 3013 11.51014

116680.061290Benzo(a)pyrene 71.2  50-110 3013 15.4999

116882.021290Benzo(b)fluoranthene 73.4  45-115 3013 12.71029

122358.821290Benzo(g,h,i)perylene 74.5  40-125 3013 18.11020

111845.091290Benzo(k)fluoranthene 68.9  45-115 3013 17.9933.8

118745.091290Chrysene 78.3  55-110 3013 11.81055

117701290Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene 76.4  40-125 3013 17.6986.1

120085.611290Fluoranthene 78.4  55-115 3013 8.971097

102401290Fluorene 76.9  50-110 3013 3.21991.9

126084.311290Indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene 75.7  40-120 3013 17.21061

856.101290Naphthalene 64.5  40-105 3013 2.86831.9

110246.731290Phenanthrene 79.3  50-110 3013 2.931070

123476.141290Pyrene 79.8  45-125 3013 111105

287903225 Surr: 2,4,6-Tribromophenol 82.9  34-140 400 7.452673

213903225 Surr: 2-Fluorobiphenyl 62.1  12-100 400 6.622002

227603225 Surr: 2-Fluorophenol 66.4  33-117 400 6.142140

303203225 Surr: 4-Terphenyl-d14 88.2  25-137 400 6.462843

212703225 Surr: Nitrobenzene-d5 63  37-107 400 4.572032

209203225 Surr: Phenol-d6 62.6  40-106 400 3.532019

The following samples were analyzed in this batch: 1502466-08A 1502466-09A 1502466-11A
1502466-13A 1502466-16A 1502466-18A

QC Page: 11 of  14
Note: See Qualifiers Page for a list of Qualifiers and their explanation.

75



Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466
QC BATCH REPORT

Batch ID: 67694 Instrument ID VMS7 Method: SW8260B

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/13/2015 01:24 PM

Prep Date: 2/13/2015

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: µg/Kg

PQL

Client ID: SeqNo: 3143936

MBLK

Run ID: VMS7_150213A

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 1

Sample ID: MBLK-67694-67694

1,2,4-Trimethylbenzene 30ND

1,3,5-Trimethylbenzene 30ND

2-Methylnaphthalene 100ND

Benzene 30ND

Ethylbenzene 30ND

m,p-Xylene 60ND

Methyl tert-butyl ether 30ND

Naphthalene 100ND

o-Xylene 30ND

Toluene 30ND

Xylenes, Total 90ND

001000 Surr: 1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 96.1  70-1300961

001000 Surr: 4-Bromofluorobenzene 99  70-1300990.5

001000 Surr: Dibromofluoromethane 97.4  70-1300974.5

001000 Surr: Toluene-d8 96.2  70-1300961.5

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/13/2015 11:43 AM

Prep Date: 2/13/2015

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: µg/Kg

PQL

Client ID: SeqNo: 3143933

LCS

Run ID: VMS7_150213A

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 1

Sample ID: LCS-67694-67694

0010001,2,4-Trimethylbenzene 87.6  65-13530876.5

0010001,3,5-Trimethylbenzene 97.4  65-13530974.5

001000Benzene 94.8  75-12530947.5

001000Ethylbenzene 95.8  75-12530958.5

002000m,p-Xylene 94.9  80-125601898

001000Methyl tert-butyl ether 99.4  75-12530994

001000Naphthalene 97.7  40-140100977

001000o-Xylene 95.6  75-12530956.5

001000Toluene 93.7  70-12530937

003000Xylenes, Total 95.2  75-125902855

001000 Surr: 1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 94.6  70-1300946.5

001000 Surr: 4-Bromofluorobenzene 96.7  70-1300967

001000 Surr: Dibromofluoromethane 100  70-13001004

001000 Surr: Toluene-d8 96.3  70-1300963

QC Page: 12 of  14
Note: See Qualifiers Page for a list of Qualifiers and their explanation.

76



Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466
QC BATCH REPORT

Batch ID: 67694 Instrument ID VMS7 Method: SW8260B

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/14/2015 09:19 AM

Prep Date: 2/13/2015

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: µg/Kg

PQL

Client ID: SeqNo: 3144221

MS

Run ID: VMS6_150213A

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 1

Sample ID: 1502495-27A MS

0010001,2,4-Trimethylbenzene 102  65-135301018

0010001,3,5-Trimethylbenzene 99.4  65-13530994

001000Benzene 106  75-125301065

001000Ethylbenzene 112  75-125301116

002000m,p-Xylene 109  80-125602181

001000Methyl tert-butyl ether 93.9  75-12530939

001000Naphthalene 122  40-1401001220

001000o-Xylene 106  75-125301058

001000Toluene 107  70-125301072

003000Xylenes, Total 108  75-125903240

001000 Surr: 1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 94.6  70-1300946.5

001000 Surr: 4-Bromofluorobenzene 97.6  70-1300976

001000 Surr: Dibromofluoromethane 105  70-13001047

001000 Surr: Toluene-d8 98.2  70-1300982.5

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/14/2015 09:45 AM

Prep Date: 2/13/2015

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: µg/Kg

PQL

Client ID: SeqNo: 3144223

MSD

Run ID: VMS6_150213A

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 1

Sample ID: 1502495-27A MSD

1018010001,2,4-Trimethylbenzene 93.3  65-135 3030 8.71933

994010001,3,5-Trimethylbenzene 96  65-135 3030 3.43960.5

106501000Benzene 99.2  75-125 3030 7.05992.5

111601000Ethylbenzene 103  75-125 3030 8.011030

218102000m,p-Xylene 102  80-125 3060 6.222050

93901000Methyl tert-butyl ether 96.8  75-125 3030 2.99967.5

122001000Naphthalene 115  40-140 30100 6.131147

105801000o-Xylene 99.8  75-125 3030 5.88998

107201000Toluene 100  70-125 3030 6.81001

324003000Xylenes, Total 102  75-125 3090 6.113048

946.501000 Surr: 1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 95  70-130 300 0.422950.5

97601000 Surr: 4-Bromofluorobenzene 97.4  70-130 300 0.256973.5

104701000 Surr: Dibromofluoromethane 105  70-130 300 0.09561046

982.501000 Surr: Toluene-d8 98.3  70-130 300 0.0509983

The following samples were analyzed in this batch: 1502466-14B

QC Page: 13 of  14
Note: See Qualifiers Page for a list of Qualifiers and their explanation.

77



Project: Overton Phase II 13-373-02

Client: Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

Work Order: 1502466
QC BATCH REPORT

Batch ID: R157550 Instrument ID MOIST Method: E160.3M

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/13/2015 03:45 PM

Prep Date:

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: % of sample

PQL

Client ID: SeqNo: 3144182

MBLK

Run ID: MOIST_150213B

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 1

Sample ID: WBLKS-R157550

JMoisture 0.0500.03

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/13/2015 03:45 PM

Prep Date:

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: % of sample

PQL

Client ID: SeqNo: 3144181

LCS

Run ID: MOIST_150213B

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 1

Sample ID: LCS-R157550

00100Moisture 100 99.5-100.50.050100

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/13/2015 03:45 PM

Prep Date:

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: % of sample

PQL

Client ID: SB-1 (0.5'-1.5') SeqNo: 3144160

DUP

Run ID: MOIST_150213B

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 1

Sample ID: 1502466-01A DUP

13.3400Moisture 0 200.050 3.7412.85

Qual
RPD 
Limit

Analysis Date: 2/13/2015 03:45 PM

Prep Date:

Analyte Result %REC %RPD

Units: % of sample

PQL

Client ID: SB-19 (1'-2') SeqNo: 3144171

DUP

Run ID: MOIST_150213B

SPK Val
SPK Ref 

Value
RPD Ref 

Value
Control 

Limit

DF: 1

Sample ID: 1502466-11A DUP

17.2200Moisture 0 200.050 3.8717.9

The following samples were analyzed in this batch: 1502466-01A 1502466-02A 1502466-03A
1502466-04A 1502466-05A 1502466-06A
1502466-07A 1502466-08A 1502466-09A
1502466-10A 1502466-11A 1502466-12A
1502466-13A 1502466-14A 1502466-15A
1502466-16A 1502466-17A 1502466-18A
1502466-19A 1502466-20A

QC Page: 14 of  14
Note: See Qualifiers Page for a list of Qualifiers and their explanation.

78



79



80



ALS Group USA, Corp

Sample Receipt Checklist

Client Name: VILLAENV

Work Order: 1502466

Date/Time Received: 11-Feb-15 13:00

Received by: KRW

Checklist completed by
eSignature Date

Reviewed by:
DateeSignature

Matrices: Soil
Carrier name: ALSHN

Shipping container/cooler in good condition? Yes No Not Present

Custody seals intact on shipping container/cooler? Yes No Not Present

Custody seals intact on sample bottles? Yes No Not Present

Chain of custody present? Yes No

Chain of custody signed when relinquished and received? Yes No

Chain of custody agrees with sample labels? Yes No

Samples in proper container/bottle? Yes No

Sample containers intact? Yes No

Sufficient sample volume for indicated test? Yes No

All samples received within holding time? Yes No

Container/Temp Blank temperature in compliance? Yes No

Yes No No VOA vials submittedWater - VOA vials have zero headspace?

Water - pH acceptable upon receipt? Yes No N/A

Temperature(s)/Thermometer(s): 4.0 C

Login Notes:

SR2

Cooler(s)/Kit(s):

12-Feb-15 13-Feb-15 Keith Wierenga  Joseph Ribar

pH adjusted? Yes No N/A
pH adjusted by:  

Date/Time sample(s) sent to storage: 2/12/2015 8:28:38 AM

Sample(s) received on ice? Yes No

CorrectiveAction:

Comments:

Client Contacted: Date Contacted: Person Contacted:

Contacted By: Regarding:

SRC Page 1 of  1
81



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX D 

 Soil Boring Logs 

82



VILLA ENVIRONMENTAL 
CONSULTANTS, INC.
408 W. MAIN STREET

BENTON HARBOR, MI 49022
(269) 927-2434   (269) 927-2435 FAX

SITE:      Overton Building                                          
LOCATION:   229 Elkenburg St., South Haven, MI                
PROJECT NO.: 13-373-02                                
DATE: 2/9/15                     PAGE   1         OF     1     

TOTAL DEPTH:    12 feet                       
GROUNDWATER LEVEL: 7'                

BORING NO.:       SB-1                          
BORING TYPE:    Direct Push                 

DEPTH
SOIL CLASSIFICATION

SAMPLE

P
ID

 (P
P

M
)

M
O

IS
T

U
R

E

BLOW
COUNT MISC.

NOTESF
R

O
M

T
O

T
Y

P
E

N
U

M
B

E
R

D
E

P
T

H

6" 6" 6" 6"

0' 0.1' Concrete 0

0.1' 7' “CL-ML” Brown moist, medium silty clay with trace fine sand 0 Hard @ 2'

7' 9' “SP” Brown moist, poorly graded fine silty sand.  Trace medium
to coarse sand.

0

9' 9.1' 2" gravel seam 0

9.1' 12' “CL-ML” Brown moist, hard silty clay with trace fine to medium
sand

0

GROUNDWATER DATA SILTS AND CLAYS SANDY SOILS KEY MOISTURE

“N” CONSISTENCY
0-2 VERY SOFT
2-4 SOFT
4-8 MEDIUM STIFF
8-15 STIFF
15-30 VERY STIFF
30+ HARD

“N” RELATIVE DENSITY
0-3 VERY LOOSE
4-10 LOOSE
10-30 MEDIUM DENSE
30-50 DENSE
50 VERY DENSE

BG = BACKGROUND
ND = NOT DETECTED
Z = NONE
S = SOIL
A = WATER

D = DRY
S = SLIGHTLY MOIST
M = MOIST
W = WET

ADVANCED BY: Geoserve, Inc

LOGGED BY: Steve Dehring

REMARKS: 

Y:\Projects\Geotechnical\2015 GE\South Haven, City of - PH II - 229 Elkenburg  #13-373-02\Soil Borings\SB-1.wpd

83



VILLA ENVIRONMENTAL 
CONSULTANTS, INC.
408 W. MAIN STREET

BENTON HARBOR, MI 49022
(269) 927-2434   (269) 927-2435 FAX

SITE:      Overton Building                                          
LOCATION:   229 Elkenburg St., South Haven, MI                
PROJECT NO.: 13-373-02                                
DATE: 2/9/15                     PAGE   1         OF     1     

TOTAL DEPTH:    12 feet                       
GROUNDWATER LEVEL:  8'                

BORING NO.:       SB-2                          
BORING TYPE:    Direct Push                 

DEPTH
SOIL CLASSIFICATION

SAMPLE

P
ID

 (P
P

M
)

M
O

IS
T

U
R

E

BLOW
COUNT MISC.

NOTESF
R

O
M

T
O

T
Y

P
E

N
U

M
B

E
R

D
E

P
T

H

6" 6" 6" 6"

0' 0.1' Concrete 0

0.1' 8' “CL-ML” Brown moist, hard silty clay.  Trace fine sand.  Orange
and brown mottling.

1-2 0 Sampled 1'-2'
Medium stiffness 4'-8'

8' 9' “SP” Brown moist, poorly graded fine silty sand.  Trace medium
sand.

0

9' 12' “CL-ML” Brown moist, hard silty clay.  Trace fine sand.  Orange
and brown mottling.   0

GROUNDWATER DATA SILTS AND CLAYS SANDY SOILS KEY MOISTURE

“N” CONSISTENCY
0-2 VERY SOFT
2-4 SOFT
4-8 MEDIUM STIFF
8-15 STIFF
15-30 VERY STIFF
30+ HARD

“N” RELATIVE DENSITY
0-3 VERY LOOSE
4-10 LOOSE
10-30 MEDIUM DENSE
30-50 DENSE
50 VERY DENSE

BG = BACKGROUND
ND = NOT DETECTED
Z = NONE
S = SOIL
A = WATER

D = DRY
S = SLIGHTLY MOIST
M = MOIST
W = WET

ADVANCED BY: Geoserve, Inc

LOGGED BY: Steve Dehring

REMARKS: 

84



VILLA ENVIRONMENTAL 
CONSULTANTS, INC.
408 W. MAIN STREET

BENTON HARBOR, MI 49022
(269) 927-2434   (269) 927-2435 FAX

SITE:      Overton Building                                          
LOCATION:   229 Elkenburg St., South Haven, MI                
PROJECT NO.: 13-373-02                                
DATE: 2/9/15                     PAGE   1         OF     1     

TOTAL DEPTH:    12 feet                       
GROUNDWATER LEVEL:   6.7'            

BORING NO.:       SB-3                          
BORING TYPE:    Direct Push                 

DEPTH
SOIL CLASSIFICATION

SAMPLE

P
ID

 (P
P

M
)

M
O

IS
T

U
R

E

BLOW
COUNT MISC.

NOTESF
R

O
M

T
O

T
Y

P
E

N
U

M
B

E
R

D
E

P
T

H

6" 6" 6" 6"

0' 1' Concrete - 2 layers with a small amount of fill sand between 0

1' 1.3' “SP” Brown moist, poorly graded fine silty sand.  Trace medium
sand.

1'-2' 0

1.3' 6.7' “CL-ML” Brown moist, hard silty clay.  Trace fine sand.  Orange
and brown mottling.

0

6.7' 8.5' “CL-ML” Same As Above with intermittent seams of “SP” Brown
moist, poorly sorted fine silty sand. .   0

8.5' 10.4' “CL-ML” Brown, moist to wet, very soft silty clay.  Some fine
sand.

0

10.4' 12' “CL-ML” Brown, hard, moist silty clay.  Trace fine to medium
gravel.  Orange mottling.

0

GROUNDWATER DATA SILTS AND CLAYS SANDY SOILS KEY MOISTURE

“N” CONSISTENCY
0-2 VERY SOFT
2-4 SOFT
4-8 MEDIUM STIFF
8-15 STIFF
15-30 VERY STIFF
30+ HARD

“N” RELATIVE DENSITY
0-3 VERY LOOSE
4-10 LOOSE
10-30 MEDIUM DENSE
30-50 DENSE
50 VERY DENSE

BG = BACKGROUND
ND = NOT DETECTED
Z = NONE
S = SOIL
A = WATER

D = DRY
S = SLIGHTLY MOIST
M = MOIST
W = WET

ADVANCED BY: Geoserve, Inc

LOGGED BY: Steve Dehring

85



VILLA ENVIRONMENTAL 
CONSULTANTS, INC.
408 W. MAIN STREET

BENTON HARBOR, MI 49022
(269) 927-2434   (269) 927-2435 FAX

SITE:      Overton Building                                          
LOCATION:   229 Elkenburg St., South Haven, MI                
PROJECT NO.: 13-373-02                                
DATE: 2/9/15                     PAGE   1         OF     1     

TOTAL DEPTH:    12 feet                       
GROUNDWATER LEVEL:   6.7'            

BORING NO.:       SB-4                          
BORING TYPE:    Direct Push                 

DEPTH
SOIL CLASSIFICATION

SAMPLE

P
ID

 (P
P

M
)

M
O

IS
T

U
R

E

BLOW
COUNT MISC.

NOTESF
R

O
M

T
O

T
Y

P
E

N
U

M
B

E
R

D
E

P
T

H

6" 6" 6" 6"

0' 0.1' Concrete 0.1'-1' 0.2

0.1' 0.3' “FILL” Dark grey sandy silt.  Moist, trace fine gravel 0

0.3' 6.7 “CL-ML” Brown moist, stiff silty clay.  Trace fine to medium
sand.  Light and dark grey mottling

0

6.7' 7' “SP” Brown moist, poorly graded fine silty sand.  Some clay
  0

7' 12' “CL-ML” Brown, moist, hard silty clay.  Occasional light grey
mottling

0

GROUNDWATER DATA SILTS AND CLAYS SANDY SOILS KEY MOISTURE

“N” CONSISTENCY
0-2 VERY SOFT
2-4 SOFT
4-8 MEDIUM STIFF
8-15 STIFF
15-30 VERY STIFF
30+ HARD

“N” RELATIVE DENSITY
0-3 VERY LOOSE
4-10 LOOSE
10-30 MEDIUM DENSE
30-50 DENSE
50 VERY DENSE

BG = BACKGROUND
ND = NOT DETECTED
Z = NONE
S = SOIL
A = WATER

D = DRY
S = SLIGHTLY MOIST
M = MOIST
W = WET

ADVANCED BY: Geoserve, Inc

LOGGED BY: Steve Dehring

REMARKS: 

86



VILLA ENVIRONMENTAL 
CONSULTANTS, INC.
408 W. MAIN STREET

BENTON HARBOR, MI 49022
(269) 927-2434   (269) 927-2435 FAX

SITE:      Overton Building                                          
LOCATION:   229 Elkenburg St., South Haven, MI                
PROJECT NO.: 13-373-02                                
DATE: 2/9/15                     PAGE   1         OF     1     

TOTAL DEPTH:    12 feet                       
GROUNDWATER LEVEL:   6.6'            

BORING NO.:       SB-5                          
BORING TYPE:    Direct Push                 

DEPTH
SOIL CLASSIFICATION

SAMPLE

P
ID

 (P
P

M
)

M
O

IS
T

U
R

E

BLOW
COUNT MISC.

NOTESF
R

O
M

T
O

T
Y

P
E

N
U

M
B

E
R

D
E

P
T

H

6" 6" 6" 6"

0' 0.1' Concrete 0

0.1' 4.1' “SP” Brown moist, poorly graded fine silty sand.  Dark grey
mottling

1'-2' 0

4.1' 12' “CL-ML” Brown moist, hard silty clay.  Grey mottling 0 soft to medium at 6.6' to
7.5'

GROUNDWATER DATA SILTS AND CLAYS SANDY SOILS KEY MOISTURE

“N” CONSISTENCY
0-2 VERY SOFT
2-4 SOFT
4-8 MEDIUM STIFF
8-15 STIFF
15-30 VERY STIFF
30+ HARD

“N” RELATIVE DENSITY
0-3 VERY LOOSE
4-10 LOOSE
10-30 MEDIUM DENSE
30-50 DENSE
50 VERY DENSE

BG = BACKGROUND
ND = NOT DETECTED
Z = NONE
S = SOIL
A = WATER

D = DRY
S = SLIGHTLY MOIST
M = MOIST
W = WET

ADVANCED BY: Geoserve, Inc

LOGGED BY: Steve Dehring

REMARKS: 

Y:\Projects\Geotechnical\2015 GE\South Haven, City of - PH II - 229 Elkenburg  #13-373-02\Soil Borings\SB-5.wpd

87



VILLA ENVIRONMENTAL 
CONSULTANTS, INC.
408 W. MAIN STREET

BENTON HARBOR, MI 49022
(269) 927-2434   (269) 927-2435 FAX

SITE:      Overton Building                                          
LOCATION:   229 Elkenburg St., South Haven, MI                
PROJECT NO.: 13-373-02                                
DATE: 2/9/15                     PAGE   1         OF     1     

TOTAL DEPTH:    12 feet                       
GROUNDWATER LEVEL:   6.3'            

BORING NO.:       SB-6                          
BORING TYPE:    Direct Push                 

DEPTH
SOIL CLASSIFICATION

SAMPLE

P
ID

 (P
P

M
)

M
O

IS
T

U
R

E

BLOW
COUNT MISC.

NOTESF
R

O
M

T
O

T
Y

P
E

N
U

M
B

E
R

D
E

P
T

H

6" 6" 6" 6"

0' 0.1' Concrete 0

0.1' 5' “CL-ML” Grayish brown moist, medium to stiff silty clay.  Grey
mottling

1'-2' 0

5' 6.3' Same as above, hard stiffness 0

6.3' 12' Same as above, medium stiffness   0

GROUNDWATER DATA SILTS AND CLAYS SANDY SOILS KEY MOISTURE

“N” CONSISTENCY
0-2 VERY SOFT
2-4 SOFT
4-8 MEDIUM STIFF
8-15 STIFF
15-30 VERY STIFF
30+ HARD

“N” RELATIVE DENSITY
0-3 VERY LOOSE
4-10 LOOSE
10-30 MEDIUM DENSE
30-50 DENSE
50 VERY DENSE

BG = BACKGROUND
ND = NOT DETECTED
Z = NONE
S = SOIL
A = WATER

D = DRY
S = SLIGHTLY MOIST
M = MOIST
W = WET

ADVANCED BY: Geoserve, Inc

LOGGED BY: Steve Dehring

REMARKS: 

Y:\Projects\Geotechnical\2015 GE\South Haven, City of - PH II - 229 Elkenburg  #13-373-02\Soil Borings\SB-6.wpd

88



VILLA ENVIRONMENTAL 
CONSULTANTS, INC.
408 W. MAIN STREET

BENTON HARBOR, MI 49022
(269) 927-2434   (269) 927-2435 FAX

SITE:      Overton Building                                          
LOCATION:   229 Elkenburg St., South Haven, MI                
PROJECT NO.: 13-373-02                                
DATE: 2/9/15                     PAGE   1         OF     1     

TOTAL DEPTH:    12 feet                       
GROUNDWATER LEVEL:   6.9'            

BORING NO.:       SB-7                          
BORING TYPE:    Direct Push                 

DEPTH
SOIL CLASSIFICATION

SAMPLE

P
ID

 (P
P

M
)

M
O

IS
T

U
R

E

BLOW
COUNT MISC.

NOTESF
R

O
M

T
O

T
Y

P
E

N
U

M
B

E
R

D
E

P
T

H

6" 6" 6" 6"

0' 6.9' “SP” Light brown, moist, poorly graded fine silty sand 0'-1' 0

6.9' 12' “CL-ML” Brown moist, medium to soft silty clay.  Grey and
orange mottling.

0

GROUNDWATER DATA SILTS AND CLAYS SANDY SOILS KEY MOISTURE

“N” CONSISTENCY
0-2 VERY SOFT
2-4 SOFT
4-8 MEDIUM STIFF
8-15 STIFF
15-30 VERY STIFF
30+ HARD

“N” RELATIVE DENSITY
0-3 VERY LOOSE
4-10 LOOSE
10-30 MEDIUM DENSE
30-50 DENSE
50 VERY DENSE

BG = BACKGROUND
ND = NOT DETECTED
Z = NONE
S = SOIL
A = WATER

D = DRY
S = SLIGHTLY MOIST
M = MOIST
W = WET

ADVANCED BY: Geoserve, Inc

LOGGED BY: Steve Dehring

REMARKS: 

Y:\Projects\Geotechnical\2015 GE\South Haven, City of - PH II - 229 Elkenburg  #13-373-02\Soil Borings\SB-7.wpd

89



VILLA ENVIRONMENTAL 
CONSULTANTS, INC.
408 W. MAIN STREET

BENTON HARBOR, MI 49022
(269) 927-2434   (269) 927-2435 FAX

SITE:      Overton Building                                          
LOCATION:   229 Elkenburg St., South Haven, MI                
PROJECT NO.: 13-373-02                                
DATE: 2/9/15                     PAGE   1         OF     1     

TOTAL DEPTH:    12 feet                       
GROUNDWATER LEVEL:   10'            

BORING NO.:       SB-8                          
BORING TYPE:    Direct Push                 

DEPTH
SOIL CLASSIFICATION

SAMPLE

P
ID

 (P
P

M
)

M
O

IS
T

U
R

E

BLOW
COUNT MISC.

NOTESF
R

O
M

T
O

T
Y

P
E

N
U

M
B

E
R

D
E

P
T

H

6" 6" 6" 6"

0' 6' “FILL” Tan, dry, poorly graded fine silty sand 0

6' 7.3' “FILL” Dark grey, moist, well graded fine to coarse silty sand 6'-7' 0

7.3' 11' “CL-ML” Grey moist, medium silty clay. 0

11' 12' “CL-ML” Brown, moist, hard silty clay.  Grey mottling   0

GROUNDWATER DATA SILTS AND CLAYS SANDY SOILS KEY MOISTURE

“N” CONSISTENCY
0-2 VERY SOFT
2-4 SOFT
4-8 MEDIUM STIFF
8-15 STIFF
15-30 VERY STIFF
30+ HARD

“N” RELATIVE DENSITY
0-3 VERY LOOSE
4-10 LOOSE
10-30 MEDIUM DENSE
30-50 DENSE
50 VERY DENSE

BG = BACKGROUND
ND = NOT DETECTED
Z = NONE
S = SOIL
A = WATER

D = DRY
S = SLIGHTLY MOIST
M = MOIST
W = WET

ADVANCED BY: Geoserve, Inc

LOGGED BY: Steve Dehring

REMARKS: 

Y:\Projects\Geotechnical\2015 GE\South Haven, City of - PH II - 229 Elkenburg  #13-373-02\Soil Borings\SB-8.wpd

90



VILLA ENVIRONMENTAL 
CONSULTANTS, INC.
408 W. MAIN STREET

BENTON HARBOR, MI 49022
(269) 927-2434   (269) 927-2435 FAX

SITE:      Overton Building                                          
LOCATION:   229 Elkenburg St., South Haven, MI                
PROJECT NO.: 13-373-02                                
DATE: 2/9/15                     PAGE   1         OF     1     

TOTAL DEPTH:    12 feet                       
GROUNDWATER LEVEL:                   

BORING NO.:       SB-9                          
BORING TYPE:    Direct Push                 

DEPTH
SOIL CLASSIFICATION

SAMPLE

P
ID

 (P
P

M
)

M
O

IS
T

U
R

E

BLOW
COUNT MISC.

NOTESF
R

O
M

T
O

T
Y

P
E

N
U

M
B

E
R

D
E

P
T

H

6" 6" 6" 6"

0' 0.5' Concrete 0

0.5' 2' “SP” Light to reddish brown, moist, poorly graded fine silty sand 0

2' 12' “CL-ML” Brown, moist, hard silty clay.  Grey mottling 0

GROUNDWATER DATA SILTS AND CLAYS SANDY SOILS KEY MOISTURE

“N” CONSISTENCY
0-2 VERY SOFT
2-4 SOFT
4-8 MEDIUM STIFF
8-15 STIFF
15-30 VERY STIFF
30+ HARD

“N” RELATIVE DENSITY
0-3 VERY LOOSE
4-10 LOOSE
10-30 MEDIUM DENSE
30-50 DENSE
50 VERY DENSE

BG = BACKGROUND
ND = NOT DETECTED
Z = NONE
S = SOIL
A = WATER

D = DRY
S = SLIGHTLY MOIST
M = MOIST
W = WET

ADVANCED BY: Geoserve, Inc

LOGGED BY: Bobby Glasser

REMARKS: 

Y:\Projects\Geotechnical\2015 GE\South Haven, City of - PH II - 229 Elkenburg  #13-373-02\Soil Borings\SB-9.wpd

91



VILLA ENVIRONMENTAL 
CONSULTANTS, INC.
408 W. MAIN STREET

BENTON HARBOR, MI 49022
(269) 927-2434   (269) 927-2435 FAX

SITE:      Overton Building                                          
LOCATION:   229 Elkenburg St., South Haven, MI                
PROJECT NO.: 13-373-02                                
DATE: 2/9/15                     PAGE   1         OF     1     

TOTAL DEPTH:    12 feet                       
GROUNDWATER LEVEL:                   

BORING NO.:       SB-10                          
BORING TYPE:    Direct Push                 

DEPTH
SOIL CLASSIFICATION

SAMPLE

P
ID

 (P
P

M
)

M
O

IS
T

U
R

E

BLOW
COUNT MISC.

NOTESF
R

O
M

T
O

T
Y

P
E

N
U

M
B

E
R

D
E

P
T

H

6" 6" 6" 6"

0' 1.5' Dark brown loose organics.  Loamy 0

1.5' 12' “CL-ML” Brown, moist, silty clay.  Some fine gravel and pebbles. 
Grey and reddish mottling

0

GROUNDWATER DATA SILTS AND CLAYS SANDY SOILS KEY MOISTURE

“N” CONSISTENCY
0-2 VERY SOFT
2-4 SOFT
4-8 MEDIUM STIFF
8-15 STIFF
15-30 VERY STIFF
30+ HARD

“N” RELATIVE DENSITY
0-3 VERY LOOSE
4-10 LOOSE
10-30 MEDIUM DENSE
30-50 DENSE
50 VERY DENSE

BG = BACKGROUND
ND = NOT DETECTED
Z = NONE
S = SOIL
A = WATER

D = DRY
S = SLIGHTLY MOIST
M = MOIST
W = WET

ADVANCED BY: Geoserve, Inc

LOGGED BY: Bobby Glasser

REMARKS: 

Y:\Projects\Geotechnical\2015 GE\South Haven, City of - PH II - 229 Elkenburg  #13-373-02\Soil Borings\SB-10.wpd

92



VILLA ENVIRONMENTAL 
CONSULTANTS, INC.
408 W. MAIN STREET

BENTON HARBOR, MI 49022
(269) 927-2434   (269) 927-2435 FAX

SITE:      Overton Building                                          
LOCATION:   229 Elkenburg St., South Haven, MI                
PROJECT NO.: 13-373-02                                
DATE: 2/9/15                     PAGE   1         OF     1     

TOTAL DEPTH:    8 feet                       
GROUNDWATER LEVEL:                   

BORING NO.:       SB-11                          
BORING TYPE:    Direct Push                 

DEPTH
SOIL CLASSIFICATION

SAMPLE

P
ID

 (P
P

M
)

M
O

IS
T

U
R

E

BLOW
COUNT MISC.

NOTESF
R

O
M

T
O

T
Y

P
E

N
U

M
B

E
R

D
E

P
T

H

6" 6" 6" 6"

0' 1' Very dark brown to black loose organics.  Loamy 0

1' 8' “CL-ML” Brown, moist, silty clay.  Some fine gravel and pebbles. 
Grey and reddish mottling

0

GROUNDWATER DATA SILTS AND CLAYS SANDY SOILS KEY MOISTURE

“N” CONSISTENCY
0-2 VERY SOFT
2-4 SOFT
4-8 MEDIUM STIFF
8-15 STIFF
15-30 VERY STIFF
30+ HARD

“N” RELATIVE DENSITY
0-3 VERY LOOSE
4-10 LOOSE
10-30 MEDIUM DENSE
30-50 DENSE
50 VERY DENSE

BG = BACKGROUND
ND = NOT DETECTED
Z = NONE
S = SOIL
A = WATER

D = DRY
S = SLIGHTLY MOIST
M = MOIST
W = WET

ADVANCED BY: Geoserve, Inc

LOGGED BY: Bobby Glasser

REMARKS: 

Y:\Projects\Geotechnical\2015 GE\South Haven, City of - PH II - 229 Elkenburg  #13-373-02\Soil Borings\SB-11.wpd

93



VILLA ENVIRONMENTAL 
CONSULTANTS, INC.
408 W. MAIN STREET

BENTON HARBOR, MI 49022
(269) 927-2434   (269) 927-2435 FAX

SITE:      Overton Building                                          
LOCATION:   229 Elkenburg St., South Haven, MI                
PROJECT NO.: 13-373-02                                
DATE: 2/9/15                     PAGE   1         OF     1     

TOTAL DEPTH:    8 feet                       
GROUNDWATER LEVEL:                   

BORING NO.:       SB-12                          
BORING TYPE:    Direct Push                 

DEPTH
SOIL CLASSIFICATION

SAMPLE

P
ID

 (P
P

M
)

M
O

IS
T

U
R

E

BLOW
COUNT MISC.

NOTESF
R

O
M

T
O

T
Y

P
E

N
U

M
B

E
R

D
E

P
T

H

6" 6" 6" 6"

0' 1' Very dark brown to black loose organics.  Loamy 0

1' 8' “CL-ML” Brown, moist, silty clay.  Some fine gravel and pebbles. 
Grey and reddish mottling

0

GROUNDWATER DATA SILTS AND CLAYS SANDY SOILS KEY MOISTURE

“N” CONSISTENCY
0-2 VERY SOFT
2-4 SOFT
4-8 MEDIUM STIFF
8-15 STIFF
15-30 VERY STIFF
30+ HARD

“N” RELATIVE DENSITY
0-3 VERY LOOSE
4-10 LOOSE
10-30 MEDIUM DENSE
30-50 DENSE
50 VERY DENSE

BG = BACKGROUND
ND = NOT DETECTED
Z = NONE
S = SOIL
A = WATER

D = DRY
S = SLIGHTLY MOIST
M = MOIST
W = WET

ADVANCED BY: Geoserve, Inc

LOGGED BY: Bobby Glasser

REMARKS: 

Y:\Projects\Geotechnical\2015 GE\South Haven, City of - PH II - 229 Elkenburg  #13-373-02\Soil Borings\SB-12.wpd

94



VILLA ENVIRONMENTAL 
CONSULTANTS, INC.
408 W. MAIN STREET

BENTON HARBOR, MI 49022
(269) 927-2434   (269) 927-2435 FAX

SITE:      Overton Building                                          
LOCATION:   229 Elkenburg St., South Haven, MI                
PROJECT NO.: 13-373-02                                
DATE: 2/9/15                     PAGE   1         OF     1     

TOTAL DEPTH:    8 feet                       
GROUNDWATER LEVEL:                   

BORING NO.:       SB-13                          
BORING TYPE:    Direct Push                 

DEPTH
SOIL CLASSIFICATION

SAMPLE

P
ID

 (P
P

M
)

M
O

IS
T

U
R

E

BLOW
COUNT MISC.

NOTESF
R

O
M

T
O

T
Y

P
E

N
U

M
B

E
R

D
E

P
T

H

6" 6" 6" 6"

0' 8' Grayish brown fine silty sand, very moist 0

GROUNDWATER DATA SILTS AND CLAYS SANDY SOILS KEY MOISTURE

“N” CONSISTENCY
0-2 VERY SOFT
2-4 SOFT
4-8 MEDIUM STIFF
8-15 STIFF
15-30 VERY STIFF
30+ HARD

“N” RELATIVE DENSITY
0-3 VERY LOOSE
4-10 LOOSE
10-30 MEDIUM DENSE
30-50 DENSE
50 VERY DENSE

BG = BACKGROUND
ND = NOT DETECTED
Z = NONE
S = SOIL
A = WATER

D = DRY
S = SLIGHTLY MOIST
M = MOIST
W = WET

ADVANCED BY: Geoserve, Inc

LOGGED BY: Bobby Glasser

REMARKS: 

Y:\Projects\Geotechnical\2015 GE\South Haven, City of - PH II - 229 Elkenburg  #13-373-02\Soil Borings\SB-13.wpd

95



VILLA ENVIRONMENTAL 
CONSULTANTS, INC.
408 W. MAIN STREET

BENTON HARBOR, MI 49022
(269) 927-2434   (269) 927-2435 FAX

SITE:      Overton Building                                          
LOCATION:   229 Elkenburg St., South Haven, MI                
PROJECT NO.: 13-373-02                                
DATE: 2/9/15                     PAGE   1         OF     1     

TOTAL DEPTH:    12 feet                       
GROUNDWATER LEVEL:                   

BORING NO.:       SB-14                          
BORING TYPE:    Direct Push                 

DEPTH
SOIL CLASSIFICATION

SAMPLE

P
ID

 (P
P

M
)

M
O

IS
T

U
R

E

BLOW
COUNT MISC.

NOTESF
R

O
M

T
O

T
Y

P
E

N
U

M
B

E
R

D
E

P
T

H

6" 6" 6" 6"

0' 2' Dark brown to black loose organics.  Loamy 0

2' 3' Black gritty coarse sand.  Angular 0

3' 5' Sand, grades to light brown, silty clay.  Gray-black zone leached
from above

0

5' 12' Light brown hard silty clay.  Grey and red mottling   0

GROUNDWATER DATA SILTS AND CLAYS SANDY SOILS KEY MOISTURE

“N” CONSISTENCY
0-2 VERY SOFT
2-4 SOFT
4-8 MEDIUM STIFF
8-15 STIFF
15-30 VERY STIFF
30+ HARD

“N” RELATIVE DENSITY
0-3 VERY LOOSE
4-10 LOOSE
10-30 MEDIUM DENSE
30-50 DENSE
50 VERY DENSE

BG = BACKGROUND
ND = NOT DETECTED
Z = NONE
S = SOIL
A = WATER

D = DRY
S = SLIGHTLY MOIST
M = MOIST
W = WET

ADVANCED BY: Geoserve, Inc

LOGGED BY: Bobby Glasser

REMARKS: 

Y:\Projects\Geotechnical\2015 GE\South Haven, City of - PH II - 229 Elkenburg  #13-373-02\Soil Borings\SB-14.wpd

96



VILLA ENVIRONMENTAL 
CONSULTANTS, INC.
408 W. MAIN STREET

BENTON HARBOR, MI 49022
(269) 927-2434   (269) 927-2435 FAX

SITE:      Overton Building                                          
LOCATION:   229 Elkenburg St., South Haven, MI                
PROJECT NO.: 13-373-02                                
DATE: 2/9/15                     PAGE   1         OF     1     

TOTAL DEPTH:    8 feet                       
GROUNDWATER LEVEL:                   

BORING NO.:       SB-15                          
BORING TYPE:    Direct Push                 

DEPTH
SOIL CLASSIFICATION

SAMPLE

P
ID

 (P
P

M
)

M
O

IS
T

U
R

E

BLOW
COUNT MISC.

NOTESF
R

O
M

T
O

T
Y

P
E

N
U

M
B

E
R

D
E

P
T

H

6" 6" 6" 6"

0' 1' Brown sand with loose organics.  Loamy 0

1' 3' Brown to black gritty coarse sand.  Angular 0

3' 5' Grayish black fine silty sand 0

5' 8' Light brown, moist, hard silty clay.  Grey and red mottling   0

GROUNDWATER DATA SILTS AND CLAYS SANDY SOILS KEY MOISTURE

“N” CONSISTENCY
0-2 VERY SOFT
2-4 SOFT
4-8 MEDIUM STIFF
8-15 STIFF
15-30 VERY STIFF
30+ HARD

“N” RELATIVE DENSITY
0-3 VERY LOOSE
4-10 LOOSE
10-30 MEDIUM DENSE
30-50 DENSE
50 VERY DENSE

BG = BACKGROUND
ND = NOT DETECTED
Z = NONE
S = SOIL
A = WATER

D = DRY
S = SLIGHTLY MOIST
M = MOIST
W = WET

ADVANCED BY: Geoserve, Inc

LOGGED BY: Bobby Glasser

REMARKS: 

Y:\Projects\Geotechnical\2015 GE\South Haven, City of - PH II - 229 Elkenburg  #13-373-02\Soil Borings\SB-15.wpd

97



VILLA ENVIRONMENTAL 
CONSULTANTS, INC.
408 W. MAIN STREET

BENTON HARBOR, MI 49022
(269) 927-2434   (269) 927-2435 FAX

SITE:      Overton Building                                          
LOCATION:   229 Elkenburg St., South Haven, MI                
PROJECT NO.: 13-373-02                                
DATE: 2/9/15                     PAGE   1         OF     1     

TOTAL DEPTH:    8 feet                       
GROUNDWATER LEVEL:                   

BORING NO.:       SB-16                          
BORING TYPE:    Direct Push                 

DEPTH
SOIL CLASSIFICATION

SAMPLE

P
ID

 (P
P

M
)

M
O

IS
T

U
R

E

BLOW
COUNT MISC.

NOTESF
R

O
M

T
O

T
Y

P
E

N
U

M
B

E
R

D
E

P
T

H

6" 6" 6" 6"

0' 1' Brown sand with loose organics.  Loamy 0

1' 3' Brown to black gritty coarse sand.  Angular 0

3' 5' Grayish black fine silty sand 0

5' 8' Light brown, moist, hard silty clay.  Grey and red mottling   0

GROUNDWATER DATA SILTS AND CLAYS SANDY SOILS KEY MOISTURE

“N” CONSISTENCY
0-2 VERY SOFT
2-4 SOFT
4-8 MEDIUM STIFF
8-15 STIFF
15-30 VERY STIFF
30+ HARD

“N” RELATIVE DENSITY
0-3 VERY LOOSE
4-10 LOOSE
10-30 MEDIUM DENSE
30-50 DENSE
50 VERY DENSE

BG = BACKGROUND
ND = NOT DETECTED
Z = NONE
S = SOIL
A = WATER

D = DRY
S = SLIGHTLY MOIST
M = MOIST
W = WET

ADVANCED BY: Geoserve, Inc

LOGGED BY: Bobby Glasser

REMARKS: 

Y:\Projects\Geotechnical\2015 GE\South Haven, City of - PH II - 229 Elkenburg  #13-373-02\Soil Borings\SB-16.wpd

98



VILLA ENVIRONMENTAL 
CONSULTANTS, INC.
408 W. MAIN STREET

BENTON HARBOR, MI 49022
(269) 927-2434   (269) 927-2435 FAX

SITE:      Overton Building                                          
LOCATION:   229 Elkenburg St., South Haven, MI                
PROJECT NO.: 13-373-02                                
DATE: 2/9/15                     PAGE   1         OF     1     

TOTAL DEPTH:    8 feet                       
GROUNDWATER LEVEL:                   

BORING NO.:       SB-17                          
BORING TYPE:    Direct Push                 

DEPTH
SOIL CLASSIFICATION

SAMPLE

P
ID

 (P
P

M
)

M
O

IS
T

U
R

E

BLOW
COUNT MISC.

NOTESF
R

O
M

T
O

T
Y

P
E

N
U

M
B

E
R

D
E

P
T

H

6" 6" 6" 6"

0' 3' Brown to black gritty coarse sand.  Angular 0

3' 4' Grayish black fine silty sand 0

4' 8' Light brown, moist, hard silty clay.  Grey and red mottling   0

GROUNDWATER DATA SILTS AND CLAYS SANDY SOILS KEY MOISTURE

“N” CONSISTENCY
0-2 VERY SOFT
2-4 SOFT
4-8 MEDIUM STIFF
8-15 STIFF
15-30 VERY STIFF
30+ HARD

“N” RELATIVE DENSITY
0-3 VERY LOOSE
4-10 LOOSE
10-30 MEDIUM DENSE
30-50 DENSE
50 VERY DENSE

BG = BACKGROUND
ND = NOT DETECTED
Z = NONE
S = SOIL
A = WATER

D = DRY
S = SLIGHTLY MOIST
M = MOIST
W = WET

ADVANCED BY: Geoserve, Inc

LOGGED BY: Bobby Glasser

REMARKS: 

Y:\Projects\Geotechnical\2015 GE\South Haven, City of - PH II - 229 Elkenburg  #13-373-02\Soil Borings\SB-17.wpd

99



VILLA ENVIRONMENTAL 
CONSULTANTS, INC.
408 W. MAIN STREET

BENTON HARBOR, MI 49022
(269) 927-2434   (269) 927-2435 FAX

SITE:      Overton Building                                          
LOCATION:   229 Elkenburg St., South Haven, MI                
PROJECT NO.: 13-373-02                                
DATE: 2/10/15                   PAGE   1         OF     1     

TOTAL DEPTH:    8 feet                       
GROUNDWATER LEVEL:                   

BORING NO.:       SB-18                          
BORING TYPE:    Direct Push                 

DEPTH
SOIL CLASSIFICATION

SAMPLE

P
ID

 (P
P

M
)

M
O

IS
T

U
R

E

BLOW
COUNT MISC.

NOTESF
R

O
M

T
O

T
Y

P
E

N
U

M
B

E
R

D
E

P
T

H

6" 6" 6" 6"

0' 4' “FILL” Brown to black gritty coarse silty sand.  Angular 1'-2' 0

4' 6.2' “SP” Brown, moist, poorly graded fine silty sand.  Black fill
material has leached into this sand.

0

6.2' 8' “CL-ML” Brown, moist, stiff silty clay.  Trace fine sand. 0

GROUNDWATER DATA SILTS AND CLAYS SANDY SOILS KEY MOISTURE

“N” CONSISTENCY
0-2 VERY SOFT
2-4 SOFT
4-8 MEDIUM STIFF
8-15 STIFF
15-30 VERY STIFF
30+ HARD

“N” RELATIVE DENSITY
0-3 VERY LOOSE
4-10 LOOSE
10-30 MEDIUM DENSE
30-50 DENSE
50 VERY DENSE

BG = BACKGROUND
ND = NOT DETECTED
Z = NONE
S = SOIL
A = WATER

D = DRY
S = SLIGHTLY MOIST
M = MOIST
W = WET

ADVANCED BY: Geoserve, Inc

LOGGED BY: Steve Dehring

REMARKS: 

Y:\Projects\Geotechnical\2015 GE\South Haven, City of - PH II - 229 Elkenburg  #13-373-02\Soil Borings\SB-18.wpd

100



VILLA ENVIRONMENTAL 
CONSULTANTS, INC.
408 W. MAIN STREET

BENTON HARBOR, MI 49022
(269) 927-2434   (269) 927-2435 FAX

SITE:      Overton Building                                          
LOCATION:   229 Elkenburg St., South Haven, MI                
PROJECT NO.: 13-373-02                                
DATE: 2/10/15                   PAGE   1         OF     1     

TOTAL DEPTH:    8 feet                       
GROUNDWATER LEVEL:    6 feet      

BORING NO.:       SB-19                          
BORING TYPE:    Direct Push                 

DEPTH
SOIL CLASSIFICATION

SAMPLE

P
ID

 (P
P

M
)

M
O

IS
T

U
R

E

BLOW
COUNT MISC.

NOTESF
R

O
M

T
O

T
Y

P
E

N
U

M
B

E
R

D
E

P
T

H

6" 6" 6" 6"

0' 2.8' “FILL” Brown to black gritty coarse silty sand.  Angular 1'-2' 0

2.8' 3.2' “SP” Brown, moist, poorly graded fine silty sand.  Black fill
material has leached into this sand.

0

3.2' 8' “CL-ML” Brown, moist, medium silty clay.  Light grey mottling 0 Soft @ 6'-7'
Hard @ 7'-8'

GROUNDWATER DATA SILTS AND CLAYS SANDY SOILS KEY MOISTURE

“N” CONSISTENCY
0-2 VERY SOFT
2-4 SOFT
4-8 MEDIUM STIFF
8-15 STIFF
15-30 VERY STIFF
30+ HARD

“N” RELATIVE DENSITY
0-3 VERY LOOSE
4-10 LOOSE
10-30 MEDIUM DENSE
30-50 DENSE
50 VERY DENSE

BG = BACKGROUND
ND = NOT DETECTED
Z = NONE
S = SOIL
A = WATER

D = DRY
S = SLIGHTLY MOIST
M = MOIST
W = WET

ADVANCED BY: Geoserve, Inc

LOGGED BY: Steve Dehring

REMARKS: 

Y:\Projects\Geotechnical\2015 GE\South Haven, City of - PH II - 229 Elkenburg  #13-373-02\Soil Borings\SB-19.wpd

101



VILLA ENVIRONMENTAL 
CONSULTANTS, INC.
408 W. MAIN STREET

BENTON HARBOR, MI 49022
(269) 927-2434   (269) 927-2435 FAX

SITE:      Overton Building                                          
LOCATION:   229 Elkenburg St., South Haven, MI                
PROJECT NO.: 13-373-02                                
DATE: 2/10/15                   PAGE   1         OF     1     

TOTAL DEPTH:    8 feet                       
GROUNDWATER LEVEL:    4 feet      

BORING NO.:       SB-20                          
BORING TYPE:    Direct Push                 

DEPTH
SOIL CLASSIFICATION

SAMPLE

P
ID

 (P
P

M
)

M
O

IS
T

U
R

E

BLOW
COUNT MISC.

NOTESF
R

O
M

T
O

T
Y

P
E

N
U

M
B

E
R

D
E

P
T

H

6" 6" 6" 6"

0' 4' “SP” Grey, moist, poorly graded fine silty sand. 1'-2' 0

4' 6' “CL-ML” Brown, moist to wet, soft to medium silty clay.  Some
fine sand.

0

6' 8' “CL-ML” Same as above.  Stiff to hard, trace fine sand 0

GROUNDWATER DATA SILTS AND CLAYS SANDY SOILS KEY MOISTURE

“N” CONSISTENCY
0-2 VERY SOFT
2-4 SOFT
4-8 MEDIUM STIFF
8-15 STIFF
15-30 VERY STIFF
30+ HARD

“N” RELATIVE DENSITY
0-3 VERY LOOSE
4-10 LOOSE
10-30 MEDIUM DENSE
30-50 DENSE
50 VERY DENSE

BG = BACKGROUND
ND = NOT DETECTED
Z = NONE
S = SOIL
A = WATER

D = DRY
S = SLIGHTLY MOIST
M = MOIST
W = WET

ADVANCED BY: Geoserve, Inc

LOGGED BY: Steve Dehring

REMARKS: 

Y:\Projects\Geotechnical\2015 GE\South Haven, City of - PH II - 229 Elkenburg  #13-373-02\Soil Borings\SB-20.wpd

102



VILLA ENVIRONMENTAL 
CONSULTANTS, INC.
408 W. MAIN STREET

BENTON HARBOR, MI 49022
(269) 927-2434   (269) 927-2435 FAX

SITE:      Overton Building                                          
LOCATION:   229 Elkenburg St., South Haven, MI                
PROJECT NO.: 13-373-02                                
DATE: 2/10/15                   PAGE   1         OF     1     

TOTAL DEPTH:    8 feet                       
GROUNDWATER LEVEL:    4 feet      

BORING NO.:       SB-21                          
BORING TYPE:    Direct Push                 

DEPTH
SOIL CLASSIFICATION

SAMPLE

P
ID

 (P
P

M
)

M
O

IS
T

U
R

E

BLOW
COUNT MISC.

NOTESF
R

O
M

T
O

T
Y

P
E

N
U

M
B

E
R

D
E

P
T

H

6" 6" 6" 6"

0' 4' “SP” Tan, moist, poorly graded fine silty sand. 1'-2' 0

4' 6' “CL-ML” Brown, moist to wet, soft to medium silty clay.  Some
fine sand.

0

6' 8' “CL-ML” Same as above.  Stiff to hard, trace fine sand 0

GROUNDWATER DATA SILTS AND CLAYS SANDY SOILS KEY MOISTURE

“N” CONSISTENCY
0-2 VERY SOFT
2-4 SOFT
4-8 MEDIUM STIFF
8-15 STIFF
15-30 VERY STIFF
30+ HARD

“N” RELATIVE DENSITY
0-3 VERY LOOSE
4-10 LOOSE
10-30 MEDIUM DENSE
30-50 DENSE
50 VERY DENSE

BG = BACKGROUND
ND = NOT DETECTED
Z = NONE
S = SOIL
A = WATER

D = DRY
S = SLIGHTLY MOIST
M = MOIST
W = WET

ADVANCED BY: Geoserve, Inc

LOGGED BY: Steve Dehring

REMARKS: 

Y:\Projects\Geotechnical\2015 GE\South Haven, City of - PH II - 229 Elkenburg  #13-373-02\Soil Borings\SB-21.wpd

103



VILLA ENVIRONMENTAL 
CONSULTANTS, INC.
408 W. MAIN STREET

BENTON HARBOR, MI 49022
(269) 927-2434   (269) 927-2435 FAX

SITE:      Overton Building                                          
LOCATION:   229 Elkenburg St., South Haven, MI                
PROJECT NO.: 13-373-02                                
DATE: 2/10/15                   PAGE   1         OF     1     

TOTAL DEPTH:    8 feet                       
GROUNDWATER LEVEL:    4 feet      

BORING NO.:       SB-22                          
BORING TYPE:    Direct Push                 

DEPTH
SOIL CLASSIFICATION

SAMPLE

P
ID

 (P
P

M
)

M
O

IS
T

U
R

E

BLOW
COUNT MISC.

NOTESF
R

O
M

T
O

T
Y

P
E

N
U

M
B

E
R

D
E

P
T

H

6" 6" 6" 6"

0' 4' “FILL” Brown to black gritty coarse silty sand.  Angular 0'-1' 0

4' 6' “CL-ML” Brown, moist to wet, soft to medium silty clay.  Some
fine sand.

0

6' 8' “CL-ML” Same as above.  Stiff to hard, trace fine sand 0

GROUNDWATER DATA SILTS AND CLAYS SANDY SOILS KEY MOISTURE

“N” CONSISTENCY
0-2 VERY SOFT
2-4 SOFT
4-8 MEDIUM STIFF
8-15 STIFF
15-30 VERY STIFF
30+ HARD

“N” RELATIVE DENSITY
0-3 VERY LOOSE
4-10 LOOSE
10-30 MEDIUM DENSE
30-50 DENSE
50 VERY DENSE

BG = BACKGROUND
ND = NOT DETECTED
Z = NONE
S = SOIL
A = WATER

D = DRY
S = SLIGHTLY MOIST
M = MOIST
W = WET

ADVANCED BY: Geoserve, Inc

LOGGED BY: Steve Dehring

REMARKS: 

Y:\Projects\Geotechnical\2015 GE\South Haven, City of - PH II - 229 Elkenburg  #13-373-02\Soil Borings\SB-22.wpd

104



VILLA ENVIRONMENTAL 
CONSULTANTS, INC.
408 W. MAIN STREET

BENTON HARBOR, MI 49022
(269) 927-2434   (269) 927-2435 FAX

SITE:      Overton Building                                          
LOCATION:   229 Elkenburg St., South Haven, MI                
PROJECT NO.: 13-373-02                                
DATE: 2/10/15                   PAGE   1         OF     1     

TOTAL DEPTH:    8 feet                       
GROUNDWATER LEVEL:                 

BORING NO.:       SB-23                          
BORING TYPE:    Direct Push                 

DEPTH
SOIL CLASSIFICATION

SAMPLE

P
ID

 (P
P

M
)

M
O

IS
T

U
R

E

BLOW
COUNT MISC.

NOTESF
R

O
M

T
O

T
Y

P
E

N
U

M
B

E
R

D
E

P
T

H

6" 6" 6" 6"

0' 4' “SP” Reddish brown fine silty sand with organics.  Transitions to
tan sand at 3.8'

0'-1' 0

4' 8' “CL-ML” Brown, moist to wet, soft to medium silty clay.  Light
grey mottling

0

GROUNDWATER DATA SILTS AND CLAYS SANDY SOILS KEY MOISTURE

“N” CONSISTENCY
0-2 VERY SOFT
2-4 SOFT
4-8 MEDIUM STIFF
8-15 STIFF
15-30 VERY STIFF
30+ HARD

“N” RELATIVE DENSITY
0-3 VERY LOOSE
4-10 LOOSE
10-30 MEDIUM DENSE
30-50 DENSE
50 VERY DENSE

BG = BACKGROUND
ND = NOT DETECTED
Z = NONE
S = SOIL
A = WATER

D = DRY
S = SLIGHTLY MOIST
M = MOIST
W = WET

ADVANCED BY: Geoserve, Inc

LOGGED BY: Steve Dehring

REMARKS: 

Y:\Projects\Geotechnical\2015 GE\South Haven, City of - PH II - 229 Elkenburg  #13-373-02\Soil Borings\SB-23.wpd

105



VILLA ENVIRONMENTAL 
CONSULTANTS, INC.
408 W. MAIN STREET

BENTON HARBOR, MI 49022
(269) 927-2434   (269) 927-2435 FAX

SITE:      Overton Building                                          
LOCATION:   229 Elkenburg St., South Haven, MI                
PROJECT NO.: 13-373-02                                
DATE: 2/10/15                   PAGE   1         OF     1     

TOTAL DEPTH:    16 feet                       
GROUNDWATER LEVEL:    6 feet       

BORING NO.:       SB-24                          
BORING TYPE:    Direct Push                 

DEPTH
SOIL CLASSIFICATION

SAMPLE

P
ID

 (P
P

M
)

M
O

IS
T

U
R

E

BLOW
COUNT MISC.

NOTESF
R

O
M

T
O

T
Y

P
E

N
U

M
B

E
R

D
E

P
T

H

6" 6" 6" 6"

0' 3.2' “FILL” Silty sand with little fine to medium gravel 0'-1' 0

3.2' 3.5' “FILL” Brown to black gritty coarse silty sand.  Angular 0

3.5' 7.5' “CL-ML” Brown, moist, medium silty clay. 0

7.5' 9' “SP” Tan, wet, poorly graded fine silty sand   0

9' 16' “CL-ML” Brown, moist, hard silty clay 0

GROUNDWATER DATA SILTS AND CLAYS SANDY SOILS KEY MOISTURE

“N” CONSISTENCY
0-2 VERY SOFT
2-4 SOFT
4-8 MEDIUM STIFF
8-15 STIFF
15-30 VERY STIFF
30+ HARD

“N” RELATIVE DENSITY
0-3 VERY LOOSE
4-10 LOOSE
10-30 MEDIUM DENSE
30-50 DENSE
50 VERY DENSE

BG = BACKGROUND
ND = NOT DETECTED
Z = NONE
S = SOIL
A = WATER

D = DRY
S = SLIGHTLY MOIST
M = MOIST
W = WET

ADVANCED BY: Geoserve, Inc

LOGGED BY: Steve Dehring

REMARKS: 

Y:\Projects\Geotechnical\2015 GE\South Haven, City of - PH II - 229 Elkenburg  #13-373-02\Soil Borings\SB-24.wpd

106



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
APPENDIX E 

 Resumes of Environmental Professionals 

107



RICHARD P. VILLA CORPORATE RESUME

President
Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

EDUCATION Michigan State University
B.S. in Civil Engineering

PROFESSIONAL CERTIFICATIONS

C State of Michigan/AHERA: Asbestos: Inspector -Management Planner - Project Designer
C Certified Industrial Storm Water Operator
C Indoor Air Quality Updates and Seminars
C State of Indiana:  Licensed Asbestos: Inspector 

MEMBERSHIPS

C Michigan Minority Supplier Development Council (MMSDC)
C National Institute of Building Sciences
C Michigan School Business Officials:  Associate Member
C Environmental Assessment Association
C Air & Waste Management Association
C National Institute of Building Sciences

EXPERIENCE (1979 to present)

Mr. Villa is responsible for managing and designing: asbestos removal projects, asbestos assessment,
asbestos design according to AHERA, energy conservation construction, Phase I, II environmental
site assessments, energy auditing and fuel storage tank removal and installation design projects. 
Developed in-depth energy analysis, Technical Assistance Energy Reports for buildings owned by
schools, local units of government, industrial facilities, and commercial businesses. 

Typical duties include preparing bid documents, specifications, project coordination, on-site review
and administration for all types of environmental projects.  Mr. Villa has developed and administered
many asbestos-containing material surveys, assessments, abatement contract documents and
procedures before and after the development of AHERA regulatory requirements.

Other environmental project implementation and management experience includes: indoor air quality
assessments, Phase I surveys, Phase II investigation and reports, Phase III implementation and other
regulatory investigations.  Since 1979-1980, Mr. Villa has also been providing on-site investigations,
developed detailed project specifications, new installation and remedial activities for underground
and above ground storage tanks according to the applicable MDEQ regulations.

A brief overview of other environmental services Mr. Villa has managed include, but not limited to
the following: Baseline Environmental Assessments, Storage tank compliance, feasibility, design,
assessment, and management, Lead-based paint surveys and assessments (non-destructive/on-site),
Clean Air Act assessment/testing, Storm water Permitting, Solid and hazardous waste management
(PIPP, SWPPP), Industrial hygiene (noise, dust, emissions, etc.) and Process Safety Management
of Highly Hazardous Chemicals

VILLA ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTANTS, INC. PAGE 1
108



Stephen M. Dehring CORPORATE RESUME

Project Geologist
Villa Environmental Consultants, Inc.

EDUCATION
C Albion College BA- 2006 - Major: Earth Science; Minor: Philosophy

PROFESSIONAL CERTIFICATIONS
C 40 hour OSHA HAZWOPER
C MDEQ Industrial Water Treatment Operator
C OSHA Site Supervisor

ADDITIONAL EDUCATION, TRAINING, AND SEMINARS
C 30 hour OSHA Construction Safety
C OSHA Confined Space 
C Transportation Worker Identification Credential
C Asbestos Awareness and 6-Month Periodic Inspection Training (In House)
C Asbestos inspector initial training-EPA accredited 

EXPERIENCE (2006-PRESENT)
C Conduct and oversee groundwater investigation and monitoring programs.
C Groundwater monitor well drilling, installation, development, and repairs.
C Oversight of drilling crews for hollow stem, direct push, and sonic drilling technologies.
C Perform environmental subsurface soil investigations and delineations.  Also completed

geotechnical soil investigations for an energy company for substation and high tension power
line foundation design.

C Classify soils using the Unified Soil Classification System (USCS).
C Conduct hazardous waste inventories on several large manufacturing facilities.
C Phase I environmental site assessment investigation and report assistance.
C Oversee facility and equipment decommissioning.
C Perform air monitoring for a major manufactured gas plant (MGP) site remediation project.
C Operate groundwater remediation treatment systems including air sparge, soil vapor extraction,

pump and treat systems, and free product recovery systems.  Also performed maintenance and
repairs on systems and oversight of major system repairs and changes.

C Waste characterization, manifesting, and disposal.
C Leaking underground storage tank (LUST) investigation and reporting.
C Contaminated soil excavation oversight, air monitoring, waste manifesting, and soil sampling.
C PCB investigation activities, which includes initial investigation, delineation, and remediation of

impacted areas.  Also conducted oversight of decontamination of PCB impacted manufacturing
and electrical equipment.

C Six month asbestos periodic surveillance
C Assist in developing asbestos NESHAP reports

VOLUNTEER
C Habitat for Humanity
C March of Dimes event participant

VILLA ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTANTS, INC. PAGE 1 109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166



167



168



169



170



171



172



173



174



175



176



177



178



179



180



181



182



183



184



185



186



1

Paul Vandenbosch

From: Stephen Dehring <sdehring@villaenv.com>
Sent: Friday, March 20, 2015 3:29 PM
To: Paul Vandenbosch
Subject: RE: Overton Phase II Report

Paul, 
 
I have addressed your questions in red below: 
 
What type of material are Benzo(a)pyrene, Benzo(b)fluoranthene and Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene? 
Those contaminates are from a group called polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons.  They are organic compounds found in 
coal tar and other fossil fuels 
Are those solvents?  What type of product did they come from? 
They are often found in diesel fuel/heating oil.  In your case, they could be residual contamination from the use and 
storage of coal at the facility.  More likely though, is that they are from the fill material that we observed on site.  The 
material on site appeared to be a slag material, which a product of the manufacturing of steel in a blast furnace.  Those 
blast furnaces require coke to reach the correct temperature, which is a refined coal product. 
 
If you are concerned about the solvent issue to the west, they are unrelated.  TCE is a volatile organic compound, which 
is from a different family of contaminates. 
Also, 5.5E+05 means 550,000, correct?  And that would be ppb or 550,000/1,000,000,000? 
Yes that is correct.  The levels of the contaminates are elevated when compared to MDEQ criteria, but I wouldn't be 
overly concerned with the levels in any of this.  If this is a property you want in your brownfield program, this is actually 
positive.  The site is a facility, but the contamination doesn't care a high concern for human health.  Most contamination 
could be managed on site with due care (capping or otherwise) if desired. 
Thanks 
 
Paul VandenBosch 
Assistant City Manager/Harbormaster 
 
City of South Haven 
pvandenbosch@south‐haven.com 
269‐637‐0775 Desk 
269‐637‐5319 Fax 
539 Phoenix Street 
South Haven, MI 49090 
 

From: Stephen Dehring [mailto:sdehring@villaenv.com]  
Sent: Friday, March 20, 2015 1:39 PM 
To: Paul Vandenbosch 
Subject: Overton Phase II Report 
 
Paul, 
 
Attached is a PDF version of the Overton Phase II Report.  Take a look and let me know if you have any questions or 
concerns.  Would you also like a receive a hard copy of the report by mail? 
 

Steve Dehring 

187



2

Project Geologist 

 

 
408 W. Main Street 
Benton Harbor, MI 49022 
Office: 269.927.2434 
Cell: 248.633.3735 
Fax: 269.927.2435 
sdehring@villaenv.com  I  www.villaenv.com 

 

188



1

Paul Vandenbosch

From: Stephen Dehring <sdehring@villaenv.com>
Sent: Friday, March 20, 2015 3:42 PM
To: Paul Vandenbosch
Cc: 'Rick Villa'
Subject: RE: Overton Phase II Report

One more question: 
 
We often see a lot of arsenic in samples.  Is there a typical base level of arsenic that occurs naturally in this area?  Or is 
the arsenic from some human activity? 
 
Yes, that number is represented in the MDEQ Statewide Default Background levels and is 5,800 ppb.  The fact that the 
arsenic exceeds the state levels coupled with the observed presence of fill material on site helped us to determine that it 
is from human activity. 
 
We know there is often arsenic in the ground on orchards from pesticides.  Do you think that might be where this 
arsenic originates? 
 
No I doubt this is from orchards.  There is a lot of fill on site and arsenic is very common in non native fill materials.  I 
also looked at the history of lead arsenate pesticides and it appears use began in 1892.  Based on the Phase I conducted 
in 2014, development of the property began in 1902 at the latest.  I find it unlikely that is the case with all of the fill 
noted during drilling. 
 
Thanks 
 
Paul VandenBosch 
Assistant City Manager/Harbormaster 
 
City of South Haven 
pvandenbosch@south‐haven.com 
269‐637‐0775 Desk 
269‐637‐5319 Fax 
539 Phoenix Street 
South Haven, MI 49090 
 

From: Stephen Dehring [mailto:sdehring@villaenv.com]  
Sent: Friday, March 20, 2015 1:39 PM 
To: Paul Vandenbosch 
Subject: Overton Phase II Report 
 
Paul, 
 
Attached is a PDF version of the Overton Phase II Report.  Take a look and let me know if you have any questions or 
concerns.  Would you also like a receive a hard copy of the report by mail? 
 

Steve Dehring 
Project Geologist 

 

189



2

 
408 W. Main Street 
Benton Harbor, MI 49022 
Office: 269.927.2434 
Cell: 248.633.3735 
Fax: 269.927.2435 
sdehring@villaenv.com  I  www.villaenv.com 

 

190



June 1, 2015

TO: Local Development Finance Authority

FR: Paul VandenBosch

RE: MBG Freezer Storage Development, Incentive

MBG purchased the land on 2nd Avenue from the LDFA for development of a freezer storage 
facility.  MBG has brought partners to the table and proposes to sell part of the land to its 
partners for development of a freezer storage facility.  The partners are Hanson Cold Storage 
and Dole.  The intent is that Dole would package and process food products, and Hanson 
would operate the freezer storage facility.  MBG will consider adding its own processing 
facility directly adjacent to the partner's freezer storage facility in the future.

The purchase agreement included an Economic Development Incentive of $150,000 for tap 
fees, meter fees, connection fees and system fees for City water and sanitary sewer utility 
services at the property (Section 8.C. of the purchase agreement).  The incentive was 
contingent upon MBG completing phase I of its proposed development within 36 months from 
May 8, 2012, which means the deadline was May 9, 2015.

In order to encourage development of the freezer storage facility, the Local Development 
Finance Authority is requested to consider extending the economic development incentive 
offer for the site as outlined in the attached resolution.

The funds for the $150,000 economic development incentive were transferred to the water 
and sanitary fund in 2012.  No payment from the LDFA will be required if the incentive is 
made.

Recommendation:

Approve Resolution 2015-03, a Resolution Authorizing a Development Incentive for a 
Development at 1600 and 1800 2nd Avenue.

  

191



LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FINANCE AUTHORITY
OF THE CITY OF SOUTH HAVEN

VAN BUREN AND ALLEGAN COUNTIES, MICHIGAN

RESOLUTION NO. 2015-___

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING A DEVELOPMENT INCENTIVE 
FOR A DEVELOPMENT AT 1600 AND 1800 2ND AVENUE

Minutes of a regular meeting of the Local Development Finance Authority of the City of
South Haven, Van Buren and Allegan Counties, Michigan, held in the City Hall, 539 Phoenix
Street, South Haven, Michigan 49090 on June 8, 2015 at 4:00 p.m. local time.

PRESENT:                                                                                                                          

ABSENT:                                                                                                                             

The following preamble and resolution was offered by Member                                 and
supported by Member                                     .

WHEREAS, the LDFA sold property to MBG at 1600 and 1800 2nd Avenue under the terms of a
purchase agreement; and,

WHEREAS, the purchase agreement included a development incentive for water and sanitary
utility connection fees in the amount of $150,000 which terminated on May 9, 2015; and,

WHEREAS, MBG proposes to sell  part  of the property to a developer for development of a
freezer storage building; and,

WHEREAS, the water and sewer connection fees are expected to exceed $150,000; and

WHEREAS, development of the site will create jobs, increase property value, will enhance the
ability of the local fruit industry to market its product and will create processing capability to add
value to local products; and,

WHEREAS,  the  Local  Development  Finance  Authority  desires  to  authorize  a  development
incentive for the property at 1600 and 1800 2nd Avenue.

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the LDFA hereby offers a development incentive
for the property at 1600 and 1800 2nd Avenue as a one time credit toward City of South Haven
water and sanitary utility tap fees, meter fees, connection fees and system fees; and,

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the amount of the development incentive credit is not to
exceed $150,000; and,

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the development incentive credit will be credited to the first
City of South Haven municipal water and sanitary utility account created for development on the
site; and,

BE  IT  FURTHER  RESOLVED,  that  the  development  incentive  credit  is  contingent  upon
beginning construction of the development within six months of the date of this resolution.

Resolution 2015-___
- 1 -



RECORD OF VOTE:

Yeas:                                                                                                                                                 

Nays:                                                                                                                                                 

RESOLUTION DECLARED ADOPTED.

                                                               
Arthur Bolt, Chair

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and complete copy of a resolution adopted by the
City of South Haven Local Development Finance Authority at a meeting held on the 8th day of
June, 2015, at which meeting a quorum was present, and that this resolution was ordered to
take immediate effect. Public notice of said meeting was given pursuant to and in compliance
with the Open Meetings Act, Act No. 167 of the Public Acts of Michigan 1976 (MCL 15.261 et
seq).

                                                               
Paul VandenBosch, Secretary

Resolution 2015-___
- 2 -

GRAPIDS 57671-1 355350v2



194



195



196



1

Paul Vandenbosch

From: Brian Dissette
Sent: Friday, May 08, 2015 4:28 PM
To: Paul Vandenbosch; Jack McCloughan; Robert Burr
Subject: FW: Extension of Economic development Incentives

FYI 
 

From: Moorer, Brad [mailto:bmoorer@BLUEBERRIES.com]  
Sent: Friday, May 08, 2015 1:28 PM 
To: Brian Dissette 
Cc: Andy Janson 
Subject: [EmailDefender SPAM suspect] Extension of Economic development Incentives 
 
Brian – 
 
It has come to my attention that certain of the economic development incentives previously offered to MBG Marketing 
to help develop the 2nd Avenue property are close to expiring.  
 
I would humbly ask the City to consider an extension of these incentives while MBG and it’s Partners continue to 
develop project plans for the site.  
 
We very much appreciate the City’s stance on economic development and continue to be excited about the our future in 
South Haven.  
 
Kindest regards, 
 
Brad Moorer 
Chief Financial Officer 
269‐512‐2302 (cell) 
269‐434‐8030 (office) 
 

197



This Real Estate Purchase and Development Agreement is made as of 2012, by the South Haven 
Local Development Finance Authority, a public body corporate, whose p ncipal business address is 539 
Phoenix Street South Haven, Ml49090 (the "lDFA"), MBG Real Estate-South Haven, LLC, a Michigan limited 
liability company, whose principal business address is 04726 County Road 215, Grand Junction, Ml 49056 
("MBG"), and the City of South Haven, a Michigan municipal corporation, whose principal business address 
is 539 Phoenix Street, South Haven, Ml49090 (the "City'}. 

RECITALS 

A. The LDFA owns the real property located at 1600 2nd Avenue (PPN 80-53-869-002-65) and 1800 
2nd Avenue (PPN 80-53-867-003-10), South Haven, Ml 49090, which is legally described and depicted on 
the attached Exhibit A {the "Property"). 

B. MBG wishes to develop, construct and operate a fruit processing facility on the Property. 

C. The LDFA desires to sell the Property to MBG, and MBG desires to purchase the Property from 
the LDFA. 

D. The City wishes to encourage the development and use of the Property as provided in this 
Agreement. 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

In exchange for the consideration in and referred to by this Agreement, the parties agree: 

1. Purchase and Sale. 

A. Purchase. The LDFA agrees to sell and convey to MBG, and MBG agrees to purchase 
from the LDFA, the Property in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

B. Consideration. MBG shall pay to the LDFA $206,500.00 as the purchase price for the 
Property (the "Purchase Price"). 

C. Title. The LDFA shall convey marketable title to the Property to MBG, with all available 
land divisions, by warranty deed, subject to easements, restrictive covenants, restrictions, 
reservations, or encumbrances of record to the extent acceptable to MBG. 

D. Payment of Purchase Price. MBG will pay the Purchase Price in full at Closing. 

2. Taxes and Utilities. 

A. Taxes and Assessments. Because it is owned by a public body, there are no real 
property taxes levied against the property and there are no outstanding special assessments 
levied against the property. 

B. Utilities. The Property is vacant so there are no charges for utility services to the 
property. There will, however, be fees for connecting to the utilities which are addressed 
elsewhere in this Agreement. 

3. Title Insurance and Survey. 

A. Title Insurance. Within 30 days after this Agreement is signed MBG shall, without 
expense to the LDFA, obtain a commitment for issuance of a standard A.LT.A. owner's policy of 
title insurance in the amount of the Purchase Price (the "Title Commitmenf'). If the Title 
Commitment discloses any conditions not acceptable to MBG, MBG shall, within 5 business days 

1 

198



of its receipt of both the Title Commitment and the Survey, give written notice of those 
objections to the LDFA. If the LDFA is unable to cure prior to closing, or if the LDFA elects not to 
cure or obtain necessary insurance over those exceptions to which MBG has objected, this 
Agreement shall terminate, and neither party shall be obligated further to the other. In the 
alternative, MBG may elect to accept such title to the Property as the LDFA is able to provide, 
without reducing or abating the Purchase Price or crediting or allowing any sum against the 
Purchase Price, and without creating any liability in the LDFA. MBG agrees that the "Declaration 
of Restrictive Covenants" attached to the 1-196 Industrial Park, a copy of which has been 
provided to MBG, shall be an acceptable condition to the Title Commitment. 

B. Survey. The LDFA has provided a boundary line sketch of the Property performed by 
Mitchell & Morse Land Surveying, dated 10-31-11, Job No. 11-1025. MBG has ordered from the 
same surveyor a new ALTA survey at its expense (the "Survey"). If the Survey discloses any 
conditions not acceptable to MBG, MBG shall, within 5 business days of its receipt of both the 
Survey and the Title Commitment, give written notice of its objections to the LDFA. If the LDFA 
is unable to cure prior to closing, or if the LDFA elects not to cure or obtain necessary insurance 
over those conditions to which MBG has objected, this Agreement shall terminate, and neither 
party shall be obligated further to the other. In the alternative, MBG may elect to accept such 
title to the Property as the LDFA is able to provide, without reducing or abating the Purchase 
Price or crediting or allowing any sum against the Purchase Price, and without creating any 
liability in the LDFA. At closing, the LDFA shall reimburse MBG for the cost of the Survey in an 
amount not to exceed $400. 

4. Environmentallssues. 

A. Site Assessment. Within 90 days after this Agreement is signed, MBG may, at MBG's 
expense, perform any environmental site assessments and investigations of the Property that it 
deems appropriate. 

B. Reports/Information. Each party shall provide the other party a copy of any information 
that party may have regarding the environmental condition of the Property and shall provide 
the other party copies of any information it receives from or transmits to any governmental 
agency or official related to the environmental condition of the Property. 

C. Phase I Environmental Site Assessment. The parties acknowledge that a Phase I 
Environmental Site Assessment was performed on neighboring properties in 1995. Such 
assessment revealed no evidence of recognizable environmental conditions which may present 
an environmental liability. A copy of such Phase I Environmental Site Assessment has been 
provided to MBG. 

D. Environmental Condition. If due to the environmental condition of any of the Property, 
MBG, in its reasonable discretion, deems the Property unfit for the uses MBG intends to make of 
it, MBG may, upon written notification to the LDFA, refuse to accept the conveyance of the 
Property. 

5. Inspection. After this Agreement is signed but prior to Closing, MBG may enter the Property to 
make any tests, inspections, examinations or studies that MBG deems necessary, including, without 
limitation, soil borings and other soil analysis to determine whether the site .is reasonably suitable for 
MBG's intended uses of it. MBG shall be solely responsible for all costs and expenses incurred in doing 
so and, if this transaction does not close, it will reasonably restore the affected property to the condition 
it was in prior to its entry on the Property. 

2 

199



6. Farming Lease. An existing farming lease on the Property will continue through the 2012 
planting and harvesting season. Provided closing occurs by June 30, 2012, any revenue derived from the 
2012 planting and harvesting season under the farming lease shall be split equally between the parties. 
The parties acknowledge that the farming lease contains a provision requiring reimbursement for crop 
damage. Although it is not anticipated that MBG will begin any construction at the Property prior to the 
completion of the 2012 planting and harvesting season, if MBG does begin construction, and if crop 
damage does occur, the parties agree to split equally the reimbursement costs required by the farming 
lease. 

7. Representations and Warranties. 

A. Condition. MBG is not relying on any representation or statement made by the LDFA 
(whether made intentionally or negligently) regarding any aspect of the Property, except as may 
be expressly set forth in this Agreement, a written amendment to this Agreement, or a 
disclosure statement separately signed by the LDFA. The Property is being conveyed and MBG 
agrees to accept the Property "AS IS" and "WITH ALL FAULTS," except as otherwise expressly 
provided in this Agreement. 

B. LDFA's Representations and Warranties. The LDFA represents and warrants to MBG 
that the LDFA has authority to enter into this Agreement and to consummate the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement. The LDFA board has approved this Agreement and the LDFA 
has duly executed and delivered this Agreement as its lawful, valid, and legally binding 
obligation, and this Agreement is enforceable in accordance with its terms. The LDFA is not a 
party to any contract, settlement, judicial order, or other agreement of any kind which would 
prohibit or otherwise restrict the ability of the LDFA to sell the Property to MBG pursuant to this 
Agreement. 

C. MBG's Representations and Warranties. MBG represents and warrants to the LDFA that 
MBG has authority to enter into this Agreement and to consummate the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement. MBG has duly executed and delivered this Agreement as its 
lawful, valid, and legally binding obligation, and this Agreement is enforceable in accordance 
with its terms. MBG is not a party to any contract, settlement, judicial order, or other 
agreement of any kind which would prohibit or otherwise restrict its ability to purchase any of 
the Property from the LDFA pursuant to this Agreement. 

8. Economic Development Incentives. The LDFA and the City of South Haven intend to provide, as 
applicable, the following economic development incentives to MBG for its development of the Property 
in accordance with Section 9 below. All needed official actions confirming the availability of these 
incentives shall be a precondition of any obligation MBG has to close on its purchase of the Property. 
However, nothing in this section requires the approval of any discretionary actions by the City Council of 
the City, the LDFA's board or by any other official or body who shall retain the ability and obligation to 
reasonably exercise the discretion provided them by applicable law. The LDFA and the City agree that 
the following economic development incentives will be provided after, and shall survive, the closing. 

A. Tax abatements. If applicable and available, a tax exemption on personal property in 
accordance with 1998 PA 328, as amended, MCL 211.9f r'PA 328"} shall be provided. 
Additionally, a tax abatement on real property and, if a PA 328 abatement is inapplicable, on 
personal property, shall be provided in accordance with 1974 PA 198, as amended, MCL 207.551 
et seq., equivalent to 50% of the taxable value for a period of 12 years. 

3 

200



B. Agricultural Processing Renaissance Zone ("APRZ"). Recognizing that the APRZ has a 
number of eligibility conditions and that final approval must be given by the State of Michigan, 
the City and the LDFA will support the State's approval of any available APRZ for MBG's 
development of the Property. 

C. Utility Connection Assistance. The LDFA and the City shall assist MBG's development of 
the Property by paying up to $150,000.00 for initial tap fees, meter fees, connection fees and 
system fees for City water and sanitary sewer utility services at the Property. Upon closing, the 
LDFA shall issue to the City such payment on behalf of MBG. Additionally, the City will rebate 
electric transformer, meter and line extension fees in an amount equal to 50% of the energy 
charge revenues received, as outlined in the South Haven Utility Policy, a copy of which has 
been provided to MBG. 

9. Development and Use of the Property. 

A. Anticipated Development. If it closes on the purchase of the Property, MBG shall, within 
36 months of the date of this Agreement complete phase 1 of its planned use of the Property 
which shall include the construction of approximately $4 million in improvements on the 
Property which shall result in approximately 2 to 4 full-time equivalent professional or 
management jobs and up to 20 seasonal jobs. Within an additional 24 months , MBG may 
complete subsequent phases of the planned development that are expected to include between 
$10 and $20 million of total improvements in the Property and a total of 7 to 10 full-time 
equivalent professional or management jobs and up to 40 seasonal jobs. 

B. Incentives Conditional. The incentives provided in the preceding Section 8 of this 
Agreement may be conditional upon MBG's completion of certain improvements and/or 
creating certain levels of employment. Those provided by the City and LDFA shall only be 
conditional upon timely completion of only the first phase of the development. 

C. Limitations on Resale of Property. Within the 60 month period provided by Section 9 A 
above, if MBG sells, conveys or transfers any unimproved portion of the Property to any third 
party, other than the City of South Haven, for consideration that exceeds the Purchase Price, 
MBG shall pay to the LDFA an amount equal to the difference between the consideration 
received and the Purchase Price pro-rated for the portion of the Property conveyed by MBG. 
Such payment shall be made to the LDFA within 30 days after such sale, conveyance or transfer. 

10. Closing Conditions. 

A. The LDFA's Conditions. The LDFA's obligation to close the transaction contemplated by 
this Agreement is subject to the satisfaction of each of the following conditions on or prior to 
the Closing Date: 

(1) No Default. MBG will not be in default of this Agreement. 

(2} Representations and Warranties. Each of MBG's representations and 
warranties contained in Section 7 C will be true and accurate on the Closing Date. 

If the Closing does not occur because of the failure of any of the conditions contained in this 
Section 10 A, this Agreement will terminate, and the LDFA will not have any further obligation or 
liability to MBG under this Agreement. 

4 

201



B. MBG's Conditions. MBG's obligations to close the transactions contemplated by this 
Agreement are subject to the satisfaction of each of the following conditions on or prior to the 
Closing Date: 

(1) No Default. The LDFA will not be in default under this Agreement. 

(2} Representations and Warranties. Each of the LDFA's representations and 
warranties contained in Section 7 B will be true and accurate on the Closing Date. 

If the Closing does not occur because of the failure of any of the conditions contained in this 
Section 10 B, this Agreement will terminate, and MBG will not have any further obligation or 
liability to the LDFA under this Agreement. 

11. Default. 

A. By the LDFA. The LDFA shall be in default under this Agreement if it fails to comply with 
any term of this Agreement. The remedy shall be to seek specific performance or to terminate 
this Agreement upon written notice in which case neither party shall have any further obligation 
under this Agreement. 

B. By MBG. MBG shall be in default under this agreement if it fails to comply with any 
term of this Agreement or if any of the following occurs prior to closing: 

(1) MBG makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors; 

(2) MBG files a voluntary petition in bankruptcy or for reorganization; 

(3) MBG attempts to effect a plan or other arrangement with creditors or files an 
answer or other document in response to any creditor's petition admitting the material 
allegations of such petition; 

{4) MBG is the subject of an involuntary bankruptcy petition; 

(5) MBG applies for or permits the appointment of a receiver, trustee, or custodian; 

(6) MBG applies for or permits the entry of an order by any court of competent 
jurisdiction consenting to an involuntary bankruptcy petition; or 

(7) MBG is unable to meet its obligations as they mature. 

The remedy shall be to seek specific performance or to terminate this Agreement upon written 
notice in which case neither party shall have any further obligation under this Agreement. 

12. Closing. 

A. Date, Time, and Place. The Closing will take place as soon as possible following the 
satisfaction of all contingencies specified in this Agreement, and in no event later than June 30, 
2012. The Closing will occur at the South Haven City Hall at a time during regular business hours 
mutually agreed upon by MBG and the LDFA, or at another location as mutually agreed upon by 
the parties. 

B. Documents for Closing. At Closing, the parties agree to execute and deliver all 
documents which may be necessary or appropriate to consummate the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement and for the issuance of a title insurance policy pursuant to the 
Title Commitment, including, but not limited to, a warranty deed from the LDFA for the 
Property, reasonably acceptable to MBG, including all available land divisions. 

5 

202



C. Possession. The LDFA will deliver possession of the Property to MBG at Closing. 

D. Costs of Closing. Upon delivery of the warranty deed to the Property, the LDFA shall pay 
for the county and state transfer taxes on the deed and for the recording of the deed. The LDFA 
and MBG shall each pay for~ of any fee charged by a title company for closing the sale portion 
of the transaction. 

13. Miscellaneous. 

A. Brokerage Fees. Each party represents and warrants that there are no brokers', finders' 
or similar fees in connection with this transaction. 

B. Notices. All notices, requests, and demands to or upon any party will be in writing and 
may be hand-delivered, sent by facsimile, or mailed by certified mail, return receipt requested 
and postage prepaid, addressed to such party at the address initially stated within this 
Agreement. Notice will be deemed effective on the day the notice is placed in the United States 
mail, upon completion of transmission if sent by facsimile, or on the date of delivery if 
personally served. 

C. Waiver. No provision of this Agreement may be waived except in a writing signed by the 
waiving party. No oral statements, course of conduct, or course of dealing will be deemed to 
constitute a waiver. No waiver by any party of any breach of this Agreement will be deemed or 
construed to constitute a waiver of any other breach or as a continuing waiver of any breach. 

D. Assignment Prohibited. Neither party may assign this Agreement, or its rights, 
privileges, duties or obligations, without the others prior written consent. 

E. Applicable Law. This Agreement will be interpreted, construed, and governed according 
to the laws of the state of Michigan. 

F. Captions. The captions or headings to the various paragraphs and sections contained in 
this Agreement are for convenience only and will to no extent affect the meaning, scope, or 
interpretation of this Agreement or any of its provisions. 

G. Binding Effect. This Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the 
parties as well as their respective successors and permitted assigns. 

H. Merger and Modification. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between 
the parties with respect to its subject matter, and all prior discussions, negotiations, and 
agreements between the parties with respect to such subject matter are deemed merged into 
this Agreement. No amendment or modification of this Agreement will be enforceable except if 
in writing and signed by the party against whom enforcement is sought. 

6 

203



SOUTH HAVEN LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FINANCE 
AUTHORITY 

Date signed: 

CITY OF SOUTH HAVEN 

Robert Burr, Mayor 

7 

MBG REAL ESTATE-SOUTH HAVEN, LLC, a 
Michigan limited liability company 

By: Michigan Blueberry Grower's Association, a 
Michigan nonprofit corporation 
Its: Manager 

Date signed: ___ _, 2012 

204



SOUTH HAVEN LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FINANCE 
AUTHORITY 

Art Bolt, Chairperson 

Paul VandenBosch, Secretary 

Date signed: ___ _, 2012 

CITY OF SOUTH HAVEN 

Robert Burr, Mayor 

Amanda Morgan, Clerk 

Date signed: ___ _, 2012 

7 

MBG REAL ESTATE-SOUTH HAVEN} LLC, a 
Michigan limited liability company 

By: Michigan Blueberry Grower's Association, a 
Michigan nonprofit corporation 

Its: Manag
7

er /) 

,.ty tl /V' ---=---- ---
By: (VU --=--=~ ' 
Its: Jb.£-J .... 1 <'~'Sure( j t fO 

I 

Date signed: ___ _, 2012 

205



EXHIBIT A 

legal Description 

#269511 v5 

8 

7761545.6 26369/105142 

206



-CI-40RD
Nl5.35'30uE 

16.771 

Rad."'30.00' 
Arc=17.001 

~~-- 1"-
d::> "! co <f) 

b (f 
0 
z 

SKETCH OF DESCRIPTIONS 
SEE St-IEET 2 FOR DE5CRIPTlON5 

NBlY03'5311 E 
'470.831 

EAST SECTION 
LINE, SEC. 2 

lf;OO 2nd AVE. 
00-53-e.b'l-002-65 

20.q Ac. ~~~ ~ -.g 
m:;t" 
IJ 0 

~ 

WEST SECTION 
LINE, SEC. I 

N8B"OO'S2 11 E 
6'40.251 

1800 2nd AYE. 
00-53-e.b'l-003-10 

20.4 Ac. 

TH HAVEN TWP. SECTION 2 SECTION 1 
\ 

-r 

gl~ cr=':-
1"- 1D 
IJ 0 

~ 

~ 

~ 
3: 
z 

tU 
z 
:J 
<f) 

~ 

If) 

* 
:i 

~
ENi!~N r. 17 N. l r E. 4- w. 114 LINE l rE. ¢ W. 1/4 LINE 

-----------tf-._1 ==:::jc=:=:=:'l77.'lo' · · ct3LSO''------~---~------
===-------:::;:;:--.-:::;-see•o3'53"W !=\ N8'l"OI'32

11

W n 
2nd (GC,' R.o.H.) AVE. 

E. 114 POST 
SECTION 2 
T. 1 5., R. 17 W. 
SOUT!-4 ~AVEN THP. 

W. 1/4 POST 
SECTION I 
T. I S. 1 R. 17 W. 
SOUT~ HAVEN TWP. 

.. 
1-
(.f) 

"" j_ 
a 
~ 
~ 
-.g 
'-' 

N 

SE COR., W. 112, 
NW Frac. 1/.4 
SECTION I 
T. I S., R. 17 W. 
SOUT~ HAVEN TWP. 

/ 'V~IT~HELL & MORSE ~~~~~RV~Y~ CLIENT CITY OF SOUTH HAVEN 
SCALE 1"=300

1 
OWN. BY J. MITCHELL A DIVISION OF MITCHELL SURVEYS, INC. 

~ 

DATE 10~31-t 1 JOB No. 11-1025 SHEET_1_or_2 __ 
CK. BY ___ DESC. BY ___ CK. BY __ _ 

BEING IN THE N. 1/2 SEC.~ T 1 S. R~ 234 VETERANS BLVD. 
BOOK FILE PAGE FILE REV. _____ _ SOUTH HAVEN, MICHIGAN 49090 

OFFICE: (269) 637·1107 SOUTH HAVEN TWP VAN BUREN Co., MICHIGAN 
FAX: (269) 637·1907 • 

'--------------------------------

207



( 
\. 
/' 

Descriptions: Situated in the City of South Haven, Van Buren County, Michigan 

80-53-869-002-65 
Beginning at the East quarter post of Section 2, Town 1 South, Range 17 West; thence South 
sao 03' 53" West on the East and West quarter line 977.90 feet; then~ North ooo 38' 10" West 
918.27 feet; thence 17.00 feet along a curve to the right with a radius of 30.00 feet and a chord 
that bears North 15° 35' 30" East 16.77 feet; thence North 88° 03' 53" East parallel with the East 
and West quarter line 970.83 feet to the East section line; thence South ooo 46' 56" East on 
same 934.21 feet to the place of beginning. 

80-53..S69-003-1 0 
Beginning at the West quarter post of Section 1, Town 1 South, Range 17 West; thence North 
ooo 46' 56" West on the West section line 934.21 feet; thence North sao 03' 53" East parallel 
with the East and West quarter line in Section 2 a distance of 239.74 feet; thence South ooo 51' 
24" East 3.00 feet; thence North 88° 00' 52" East 690.25 feet; thence South ooo 51' 24" East 
979.09 feet to the East and West quarter line; thence North 89° 01' 32" West on same 931.50 
feet to the place of beginning. 

~ 2.34 VETERANS BLVD. MITCHELL & MORSE LAND SURVEYING SOUTH HAVEN, MICHIGAN 49090 
OFFICE: (269) 637·11 07 

A DIVISION OF MITCHELL SURVEYS, INC. _.)\.. FAX: (269) 637·1907 

"I" CITY OF SOUTH HAVEN Ct... lENT "'"' 
10-31-11 11-1025 SHEE'f 2 2 

EDWARD C. MORSE 
DATE Joe No. or PROFESSIONAL 

DESC. CK SURVEYOR 
DWG. BY J. MITCHELL DWG. CK ___ DESC. BY ___ 

'- _.) 

BEING IN THE N. 1/2 SECTION 1 & 2 ,T 1 s. ,R 17 w. '/ 

"" SOUTH HAVEN VAN BUREN Co., MICHIGAN GEORGE J. MITCHELL TWP. 
PROFESSIONAL 

SCALE 111=3001 
BooK FILE: PAGE FILE REVISION SURVEYOR 

\. ..)\. _,) 

208



of its receipt of both the Title Commitment and the Survey, give written notice of those 
objections to the LDFA. If the LDFA is unable to cure prior to closing, or if the LDFA elects not to 
cure or obtain necessary insurance over those exceptions to which MBG has objected, this 
Agreement shall terminate, and neither party shall be obligated further to the other. In the 
alternative, MBG may elect to accept such title to the Property as the LDFA is able to provide, 
without reducing or abating the Purchase Price or crediting or allowing any sum against the 
Purchase Price, and without creating any liability in the LDFA. MBG agrees that the "Declaration 
of Restrictive Covenants" attached to the 1-196 Industrial Park, a copy of whlch has been 

provided to MBG, shall be an acceptable condition to the Title Commitment. 

B. Survey. The LDFA has provided a boundary line sketch of the Property performed by 

Mitchell & Morse Land Surveying, dated 10-31-11, Job No. J 1-1025. MBG has ordered from the 

same surveyor a new AlTA survey at its expense (the 11Survey'l If the Survey discloses any 
conditions not acceptable to MBG, MBG shall, within 5 business days of its receipt of both the 
Survey and the Title Commitment, give written notice of its objections to the LDFA. If the lDFA 
is unable to cure prior to closing, or if the LDFA elects not to cure or obtain necessary insurance 
over those conditions to which MBG has objected, this Agreement shall terminate, and neither 

party shall be obligated further to the other. In the alternative/ MBG may elect to accept such 
title to the Property as the LDFA is able to provide} without reducing or abating the Purchase 
Price or crediting or allowing any sum against the Purchase Price, and without creating any 

liability in the LDFA. At dosing, the LDFA shall reimburse MBG for the cost of the Survey in an 
amount not to exceed $400. 

4. Environrnentallssues. 

A. Site Assessment. Within 90 days after this Agreement is signed, MBG may, at MBG1s 
expense} perform any environmental site assessments and investigations of the Property that it 
deems appropriate. 

B. Reports/Information. Each party shall provide the other party a copy of any information 

that party may have regarding the environmental condition of the Property and shall provide 
the other party copies of any information it receives from or transmits to any governmental 
agency or official related to the environmental condition of the Property. 

C. Phase l Environmental Site Assessment. The parties acknowledge that a Phase I 
Environmental Site Assessment was performed on neighboring properties in 1995. Such 
assessment revealed no evidence of recognizable environmental conditions which may present 
an environmental liability. A copy of such Phase I Environmental Site Assessment has been 

provided to MBG. 

D. Environmental Condition. If due to the environmental condition of any of the Property, 
MBG1 in its reasonable discretion, deems the Property unfit for the uses MBG intends to make of 

it, MBG may1 upon written notification to the LDFA, refuse to accept the conveyance of the 
Property. 

5. Inspection. After this Agreement is signed but prior to Closing, MBG may enter the Property to 

make any tests, inspections, examinations or studies that MBG deems nect;ssary, including, without 
limitation, soil borings and other soil analysis to determine whether the site is reasonably suitable for 

MBG's intended uses of it. MBG shall be solely responsible for all costs and expenses incurred in doing 
so andJ if this transaction does not close, it will reasonably restore the affected property to the condition 

it was in prior to its entry on the Property. 

2 

209


	LDFA Agenda, June 8, 2015
	April 13, 2015 Minutes
	Financial Report
	Overton Building Purchase
	2nd Avenue Development Incentive



